TURUN YLIOPISTON JULKAISUJA ANNALES UNIVERSITATIS TURKUENSIS

SARJA – SER. D OSA – TOM. 793 MEDICA - ODONTOLOGICA

> PAIN-EVOKED ALTERATIONS ON GINGIVAL ON GINGIVAL BLOOD FLOW AND GINGIVAL CREVICULAR FLUID (GCF) NEUROPEPTIDE SP AND COLLAGENASE-2 (MMP-8) LEVELS

Nina-Li Avellán Academic Dissertation

TURUN YLIOPISTO Turku 2008 From the Department of Stomatognathic Physiology Institute of Dentistry, University of Turku and The National Graduate School of Clinical Investigation (CLIGS)

Supervised by:

Professor Pentti Kemppainen, DDS, PhD Department of Stomatognathic Physiology Institute of Dentistry, University of Turku, Finland Department of Oral Diseases Turku University Central Hospital (TUCH)

Professor Timo Sorsa, DDS, PhD, Dipl Perio Cell Biology section of Oral Diseases Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Finland Biomedicum Helsinki, Finland Department of Oral and Maxillofacial Diseases Helsinki University Central Hospital (HUCH)

Reviewed by:

Professor Antti Pertovaara, MD, PhD Institute of Biomedicine, Physiology, University of Helsinki, Finland

Professor Tuomas Waltimo, DDS, PhD Institute of Preventive Dentistry and Oral Microbiology School of Dentistry, University of Basel, Switzerland

Opponent:

Docent Kimmo Suomalainen, DDS, PhD Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, Finland Research & Development Unit for Medical Education Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, Finland

ISBN 978-951-29-3488-1 (PRINT) ISBN 978-951-29-3489-8 (PDF) Yliopistopaino, Helsinki 2008

To Timo and Jean-Mikael

Nina-Li Avellán. Pain-evoked alterations on gingival blood flow and gingival crevicular fluid (GCF) neuropeptide SP and collagenase-2 (MMP-8) levels. Department of Stomatognathic Physiology. Institute of Dentistry. University of Turku. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Sarja-Ser. D Medica-Odontologica 2008.

ABSTRACT

Previous studies have demonstrated that clinical pulpal pain can induce the expression of pro-inflammatory neuropeptides in the adjacent gingival crevice fluid (GCF). Vasoactive agents such as substance P (SP) are known to contribute to the inflammatory type of pain and are associated with increased blood flow. More recent animal studies have shown that application of capsaicin on alveolar mucosa provokes pain and neurogenic vasodilatation in the adjacent gingiva. Pain-associated inflammatory reactions may initiate expression of several pro- and antiinflammatory mediators. Collagenase-2 (MMP-8) has been considered to be the major destructive protease, especially in the periodontitis-affected gingival crevice fluid (GCF). MMP-8 originates mostly from neutrophil leukocytes, the first line of defence cells that exist abundantly in GCF, especially in inflammation. With this background, we wished to clarify the spatial extensions and differences between tooth-pain stimulation and capsaicin-induced neurogenic vasodilatation in human gingiva. Experiments were carried out to study whether tooth stimulation and capsaicin stimulation of alveolar mucosa would induce changes in GCF MMP-8 levels and whether tooth stimulation would release neuropeptide SP in GCF. The experiments were carried out on healthy human volunteers. During the experiments, moderate and high intensity painful tooth stimulation was performed by a constant current tooth stimulator. Moderate tooth stimulation activates A-delta fibres, while high stimulation also activates C-fibres. Painful stimulation of the gingiva was achieved by topical application of capsaicin-moistened filter paper on the mucosal surface. Capsaicin is known to activate selectively nociceptive C-fibres of stimulated tissue. Pain-evoked vasoactive changes in gingivomucosal tissues were mapped by laser Doppler imaging (LDI), which is a sophisticated and non-invasive method for studying e.g. spatial and temporal characteristics of pain- and inflammation-evoked blood flow changes in gingivomucosal tissues. Pain-evoked release of MMP-8 in GCF samples was studied by immunofluorometric assay (IFMA) and Western immunoblotting. The SP levels in GCF were analysed by Enzyme immunoassay (EIA). During the experiments, subjective stimulus-evoked pain responses were determined by a visual analogue pain scale. Unilateral stimulation of alveolar mucosa and attached gingiva by capsaicin evoked a distinct neurogenic vasodilatation in the ipsilateral gingiva, which attenuated rapidly at the midline. Capsaicin stimulation of alveolar mucosa provoked clear inflammatory reactions. In contrast to capsaicin stimuli, tooth stimulation produced symmetrical vasodilatations bilaterally in the gingiva. The ipsilateral responses were significantly smaller during tooth stimulation than during capsaicin stimuli. The current finding - that tooth stimulation evokes bilateral vasodilatation while capsaicin stimulation of the gingiva mainly produces unilateral vasodilatation - emphasises the usefulness of LDI in clarifying spatial features of neurogenic vasoactive changes in the intra-oral tissues. Capsaicin stimulation of the alveolar mucosa induced significant elevations in MMP-8 levels and activation in GCF of the adjacent teeth. During the experiments, no marked changes occurred in MMP-8 levels in the GCF of distantly located teeth. Painful stimulation of the upper incisor provoked elevations in GCF MMP-8 and SP levels of the stimulated tooth. The GCF MMP-8 and SP levels of the non-stimulated teeth were not changed. These results suggest that capsaicin-induced inflammatory reactions in gingivomucosal tissues do not cross the midline in the anterior maxilla. The enhanced reaction found during stimulation of alveolar mucosa indicates that alveolar mucosa is more sensitive to chemical irritants than the attached gingiva. Analysis of these data suggests that capsaicinevoked neurogenic inflammation in the gingiva can trigger the expression and activation of MMP-8 in GCF of the adjacent teeth. In this study, it is concluded that experimental tooth pain at C-fibre intensity can induce local elevations in MMP-8 and SP levels in GCF. Depending on the role of MMP-8 in inflammation, in addition to surrogated tissue destruction, the elevated MMP-8 in GCF may also reflect accelerated local defensive and anti-inflammatory reactions.

Key words: blood flow, Capsaicin, gingiva, gingival crevice fluid, laser Doppler imaging, matrix metalloproteinase-8, neurogenic inflammation, pulpal pain, substance P (SP) Nina-Li Avellán. Kivun aiheuttamat muutokset ikenen verivirtauksessa sekä ientaskunesteen neuropeptidi SP- ja matriksin metalloproteinaasimäärissä. Purentafysiologian oppiala. Hammaslääketieteen laitos. Turun yliopisto. Annales Universitatis Turkuensis. Sarja-Ser. D Medica-Odontologica 2008.

TIIVISTELMÄ

Tulehdusreaktioon liittyy kipua, verivirtausmuutoksia ja kudostuhoa. Verivirtausmuutokset perustuvat tulehduksen neurogeenisiin vaikutuksiin, joissa mediaattorina toimii kipuhermoista vapautuva neuropeptidi SP. Kudostuhoa aiheuttavat kollagenaasientsyymit, joista parodontiumissa kollagenaasi-2:a (MMP-8) pidetään keskeisimpänä. Tämän tutkimuksen tarkoituksena oli selvittää kokeellisesti hampaan ja parodontiumin tulehdusreaktion aiheuttamia muutoksia ienkudoksen verivirtauksessa sekä ientaskunesteen MMP-8 ja neuropeptidi SP määrässä.

Kliininen tutkimus suoritettiin Helsingin yliopiston Hammaslääketieteen laitoksella, Biomedicumissa, Turun yliopiston Hammaslääketieteen laitoksella sekä Erlangenin yliopistossa Saksassa. Tutkimuksessa oli mukana terveitä koehenkilöitä. Kokeellinen tulehdusreaktio aiheutettiin hampaan sähköärsytyksellä ja ikenen capsaicin penslauksella. Ientaskuneste kerättiin standardoidulla stripsi-menetelmällä. Ientaskunesteestä määritettiin tulehdusreaktion aiheuttamat MMP-8- ja neuropeptidi SP-tasojen muutokset. Hammasta ympäröivän tukikudoksen verivirtausmuutokset kartoitettiin non-invasiivisesti laser Doppler imaging-laitteistolla.

Tutkimus osoittaa, että capsaicinin aiheuttama paikallinen hermovälitteinen tulehdusreaktio ikenessä ja limakalvolla ei ylitä yläleuan keskilinjaa. Capsaicin laukaisee myös MMP-8:n vapautumisen läheisten hampaiden ientaskunesteessä, mutta tämä MMP-8 tason nousu ei myöskään jatku yli keskiviivan viereiseen yläleuan puoliskoon. Hermovälitteisen tulehdusreaktion suurempi voimakkuus ärsytettäessä limakalvoa kuin ärsytettäessä kiinnittynyttä ientä tukee hypoteesia, että suun limakalvo on kiinnittynyttä ientä herkempi kemikaalien ja bakteereiden aiheuttamille tulehdusreaktioille. Tutkimustulosten mukaan kokeellinen hammaskipu aiheuttaa paikallisesti ientaskunesteessä MMP-8- ja neuropeptidi SP-tason nousua.Tulokset tukevat hypoteesia, että tulehdusreaktio voi levitä hermovälitteisesti hammasytimestä sitä ympäröiviin kiinnityskudoksiin.

Tutkimus on kliinisesti merkittävä, koska se selvittää tulehdusreaktion neurogeenisiä mekanismeja sekä avain-välittäjäaineiden (neuropeptidi SP ja MMP-8) toiminnan tulehdusreaktion etenemisessä hampaan ja sitä ympäröivän tukikudoksen välillä. Tutkimustulokset luovat perustan tarkemmalle intraoraalisten tulehdustilojen diagnostiikalle sekä uusien täsmällisten hoitomuotojen kehittämiselle.

Avainsanat: capsaicin, hammaskipu, hermovälitteinen tulehdusreaktio, ien, ientaskuneste, laser Doppler imaging, matriksin metalloproteinaasi-8, neuropeptidi SP, verivirtaus

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	9
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	10
1 INTRODUCTION	11
2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	13
2.1 STRUCTURE AND PHYSIOLOGY OF THE PERIODONTIUM	13
2.1.1 The gingiva	13
2.1.1.1 Gingival crevice fluid (GCF)	14
2.1.2 Periodontal ligament	14
2.1.3 The root cementum	15
2.1.4 The alveolar bone	15
2.2 STRUCTURE AND PHYSIOLOGY OF TEETH	15
2.2.1 Enamel	15
2.2.2 Dentine	15
2.2.3 Dental pulp	16
2.2.3.1 Blood supply of the tooth pulp	16
2.2.3.2 Nerve supply of the pulpodentin complex	16
2.2.3.3 Differences between the nerve supply of the	
pulpodentin complex and the supporting tissues	17
2.3 PAIN	18
2.3.1 Transmission of orofacial nociceptive information to the	
central nervous system (CNS)	18
2.3.1.1 Nociceptors (Pain receptors)	19
2.3.1.2 Trigeminal nerve	19
2.3.1.3 The orofacial pain pathways in the CNS	20
2.3.1.4 Effect of orofacial painful stimuli on cardiovascular	
parameters via the autonomic nervous system (ANS)	22
2.4 DISEASED PERIODONTIUM	23
2.5 INFLAMMATION	24
2.6 NEUROGENIC INFLAMMATION	25
2.6.1 Mediators of inflammation	26
2.6.1.1 Cytokines	27
2.6.1.2 Other mediators of inflammation	28

2.7 MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES (MMPs)	29
2.7.1 General structure of MMPs	29
2.7.2 Classification of the MMPs	29
2.7.2.1 Members of the MMP family with a role in	
periodontal tissue remodelling	30
2.7.3 Activation	30
2.7.4 Inhibitors	31
2.7.5 Synthetic inhibitors	32
2.7.6 MMP-8 (Collagenase-2) in periodontal tissue remodelling	32
2.8 NEUROPEPTIDES	34
2.8.1 Function of neuropeptides	34
2.8.2 Substance P	34
2.8.3 Neuropeptides in GCF in periodontal health and disease	36
2.8.4 Neuropeptides in GCF of painful teeth	37
2.9 PAINFUL STIMULATION, VAS AND LDI-IMAGING	38
2.9.1 Tooth pulp stimulation	38
2.9.2 Capsaicin stimulation	39
2.9.3 Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)	39
2.9.4 Laser Doppler perfusion Imaging (LDI)	40
3 AIMS OF THE STUDY	41
4 MATERIALS AND METHODS	42
4.1 SUBJECTS, STIMULATION TECHNIQUES, MEASUREMENTS AND SAMPLE	S 42
4.1.1 Blood flow measurements	44
4.1.2 GCF sampling	44
4.2 MMP-8 IMMUNOFLUOROMETRIC ASSAY (IFMA)	44
4.3 MMP-8 WESTERN IMMUNOBLOTTING	45
4.4 SUBSTANCE P ENZYME IMMUNOASSAY (EIA)	45
4.4.1 Assay procedure	45
4.4.2 Calculation of results	46
4.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES	46
5 RESULTS	48
5.1 GCF FLOW, HR AND MAP	48
5.2 VASODILATATION RESPONSES IN TOOTH AND CAPSAICIN STIMULATION	N 48
5.3 MMP-8 IN GCF WITH PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION	48

5.4 MMP-8 IN GCF WITH CAPSAICIN STIMULATION		
5.5 MMP-8 AND SUBSTANCE P IN GCF WITH PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION	49	
6 DISCUSSION	50	
6.1 THE SPATIAL EXTENSIONS AND DIFFERENCES BETWEEN TOOTH		
STIMULATION AND CAPSAICIN-INDUCED NEUROGENIC VASODILATATIC	DN	
IN HUMAN GINGIVA (<i>I</i>)	51	
6.2 PAINFUL TOOTH AND GINGIVAL STIMULATION-EVOKED		
RESPONSES IN MMP-8 LEVELS IN GCF (II, III)	53	
6.2.1 Painful tooth stimulation	53	
6.2.2 Capsaicin stimulation	54	
6.3 PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION-INDUCED RELEASE OF SP AND		
MMP-8 IN GCF (<i>IV</i>)	54	
6.4 THE CHARACTERISTICS OF SP AND MMP-8 IN TOOTH STIMULATION		
ANALYSED FROM GCF (<i>IV</i>)	55	
7 CONCLUSIONS	57	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	58	
REFERENCES	60	

ABBREVIATIONS

α2-MG	alpha-2-macroglobulin
ANS	autonomic nervous system
BM	basement membrane
CNS	central nervous system
C-terminus	carboxyl terminus
ECM	extracellular matrix
EDTA	ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid
EIA	enzyme immunoassay
GCF	gingival crevice fluid
HR	heart rate
IFMA	time-resolved immunofluorometric assay
IL-1β	interleukin1β
kDa	kilodalton
LDF	laser Doppler flowmetry
LDI	laser Doppler imaging
LPS	lipopolysaccharide
MAP	mean arterial blood pressure
MT-MMP	membrane-type MMP
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
MMP-8	collagenase-2/ neutrophil collagenase
N-terminal	amino terminal
PGE ₂	prostaglandin E ₂
PMN	polymorphonuclear leukocyte, neutrophil leukocyte
RF	reticular formation
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SP	substance P
TIMP	tissue inhibitor of matrix metalloproteinase
TNF-α	tumour necrosis factor-α
TTBS	10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 0.05% Triton X-100, 0.2 M NaCl
VAS	visual analogue scale
Zn	zinc

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following publications referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

I

Kemppainen P, Avellán N-L, Handwerker H.O, Forster C. Differences between tooth stimulation and capsaicin-induced neurogenic vasodilatation in human gingiva. Journal of Dental Research 2003; 82(4): 303-307.

Π

Avellán N-L, Sorsa T, Tervahartiala T, Mäntylä P, Forster C, Kemppainen P. Painful tooth stimulation elevates matrix metalloproteinase-8 levels locally in human gingival crevicular fluid. Journal of Dental Research 2005; 84(4): 335-339.

III

Avellán N-L, Kemppainen P, Tervahartiala T, Vilppola P, Forster C, Sorsa T. Capsaicin-induced local elevations in collagenase-2 (matrix metalloproteinase-8) levels in human gingival crevice fluid. Journal of Periodontal Research 2006; 41: 33-38.

IV

Avellán N-L, Sorsa T, Tervahartiala T, Forster C, Kemppainen P. Experimental tooth pain elevates substance P and matrix metalloproteinase-8 levels in human gingival crevice fluid. Acta Odontologica Scandinavica 2008, in press.

The original papers and figures in this thesis have been reproduced with the permission of the copyright holders.

1 INTRODUCTION

Pain and inflammatory reactions are known to be associated with blood flow changes, and, for example, in migraine type of headache, pain is supposed to be vascular in origin (Goadsby 1997). There are also distinct signs of blood flow alterations in other types orofacial pain syndromes such as trigeminus neuralgia and pain-related masticatory dysfunctions (Suvinen *et al.* 2005).

Pain-provoked alterations in blood flow are neuronal, driven via local axon reflexes and centrally mediated somato-autonomic vascular reflexes (Wallin 1990). It is well documented that activation of cutaneous nociceptive afferents induces local vasodilatation (Wårdell *et al.* 1993), which is caused by the release of inflammatory mediators from the peripheral nerve terminals, and thus called axonreflex-mediated neurogenic inflammation (Holzer 1988). Unmyelinated nociceptive C-fibres, containing vasoactive agents such as substance P (SP) and calcitonin-gene-related peptide (CGRP), are mainly responsible for this inflammatory type of pain and associated blood flow increases (Holzer 1988). These vasoactive neuropeptides are released upon activation of C-afferent fibres leading to a local blood flow increase. Axon reflex vasodilatation usually spreads symmetrically around the nociceptive stimulus and corresponds to the size of the receptive fields of the stimulated nociceptive afferents (Wårdell *et al.* 1993). Interestingly, several recent studies in humans have demonstrated that especially orofacial C-fibre mediated pain (for example tooth pain) can evoke not only local axon reflexes but also centrally mediated blood flow alterations in various trigeminal regions (Kemppainen *et al.* 1994, 2001a, b) and even central pain-sensitive structures (May & Goadsby 1999).

There are two types of afferent nerve fibres, A-delta and C-fibres, within the tooth pulp (Närhi *et al.* 1996). Electrical tooth stimulation (pulse duration 10 ms, frequency 5 Hz) at pain threshold level activates selectively A-delta fibres, and by increasing stimulus intensity it is possible to activate also pulpal C-fibres (Närhi 1985; Virtanen 1985). In the present series of studies, we designed experiments to determine whether tooth stimulation would evoke MMP-8 levels in GCF. The present study was also conducted to clarify whether there are differences between tooth stimulation current and different pulpal nerve fibre population and stimulation-evoked MMP-8 levels in GCF. The preliminary findings indicated that only high intensity tooth stimulation, capable of activating pulpal C-fibres, induced elevations in GCF MMP-8 levels. Therefore, 3x the individual pain threshold was used (average current intensity 47 μ A) in this study.

In the present study, the laser Doppler imaging (LDI) technique was applied for the first time to record blood flow in human gingiva. Although it is an indirect measure, LDI has previously been shown to be a successful method for the documentation of orofacial blood flow changes (Kemppainen *et al.* 2001a, b). In contrast to laser Doppler flowmetry (LDF), as used, for example, in the determination of blood flow in healthy (Baab *et al.* 1986) and diseased human gingiva (Baab *et al.* 1990), LDI has the advantage of giving simultaneously information on the spatial distribution of vaoactive changes from separate tissues.

It has been recognised that toxins, enzymes and metabolites of various bacteria of the dental plaque are responsible for the initiation of the inflammation in the periodontium (Listgarten 1987). Recent animal studies (Fazekas *et al.* 1990; Kondo *et al.* 1995) have shown that similar inflammatory reactions in the gingiva can be induced experimentally by activating C-afferent nociceptors in gingivomucosal tissues. It has been suggested that intact function of these nociceptive fibres serves as a primary physiological defence mechanism in periodontal tissues (Kondo *et al.* 1995), the impairment of which can lead to reduced periodontal inflammatory function as found in diabetic rats (Györfi *et al.* 1996). However, to the best of our knowledge no systematic studies on the existence and characteristics of C-fibre mediated neurogenic inflammatory reactions in human gingivomucosal tissues have been performed.

2 REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

2.1 STRUCTURE AND PHYSIOLOGY OF THE PERIODONTIUM

The periodontium, the supporting structures around the teeth, comprises: 1) the gingiva, 2) the periodontal ligament, 3) the root cementum, and 4) the alveolar bone. The periodontium balances masticatory forces and participates in the defence reaction against microbial infections, chemical and physical factors and irritants.

2.1.1 The gingiva

The gingiva surrounding the teeth consists of two parts: 1) free gingiva extends from the cementoenamel junction to the most coronal soft tissue margin and includes the interdental papillae; 2) attached gingiva is coral pink in colour and keratinised. Attached gingiva is situated between the free gingiva and the mucogingival junction and is tightly fastened to the alveolar bone.

In the apical direction the gingiva is continuous with the loose, darker red **alveolar mucosa**, from which the gingiva is separated by a borderline called the mucogingival junction. The non-keratinised alveolar mucosa is loosely bound to the underlying bone.

The gingiva is covered by three different kinds of epithelia: 1) the visible gingiva facing the oral cavity is covered by **oral epithelium**. The oral epithelium and the underlying connective tissue contain lots of blood vessels and nerve endings and have rapid metabolism. The oral epithelium is either keratinised or parakeratinised; 2) the oral epithelium continues as non-keratinised or parakeratinised sulcular epithelium, which faces the tooth and is not bound to the tooth surface. **The sulcular epithelium** and the tooth form the v-shaped gingival crevice, sulcus, which is the most critical area concerning the physiology of the periodontium. It allows bacterial growth in the crevice and may start periodontal diseases; 3) **the junctional epithelium** provides the contact between the tooth and the gingiva and forms the bottom of the gingival sulcus. It is non-keratinised. The epithelial attachment of the junctional epithelium, from the internal basal lamina, is fastened to the enamel via hemidesmosomes. Substance P and CGRP have been found immunohistochemically in nerve fibres supplying the junctional epithelium (Byers *et al.* 1987; Nagata *et al.* 1992). Junctional epithelium has a high cellular turnover rate and wide intercellular spaces allowing inflammatory cell emigration and gingival crevice fluid (GCF) flow.

Underlying the gingival epithelial layer is the connective tissue layer. Type I collagen is the major type of collagen and fibroblasts are the major resident cells in the gingival connective tissue. Connective tissue has rapid metabolism, which allowes the fast recovery of small wounds in the gingiva.

2.1.1.1 Gingival crevice fluid (GCF)

Gingival crevice fluid (GCF) is a mixture of serum origin and acts as a vehicle of important defence mechanisms. After the onset of plaque formation, the permeability of the connective tissue vasculature increases, which can be clinically detected by increased gingival crevice fluid flow. In the healthy gingival crevice GCF is released only in small amounts. Quantification of the GCF volume has been used to reveal the inflammatory status of periodontal tissues. GCF volume increases in the order healthy gingiva, gingivitis, and periodontitis (Nakamura 2000), but the increased flow does not necessarily reflect periodontal disease activity.

The GCF composition has been evidenced to follow and reflect the health and disease of the adjacent gingiva (Cimasoni 1983). Qualification of the collected GCF can be used to reflect the activity of periodontal tissue inflammation. In periodontitis patients, repeatedly elevated GCF MMP-8 concentrations may indicate sites at risk of progression of periodontitis as well as patients with poor response to conventional periodontal treatment (Mäntylä *et al.* 2003).

GCF can be collected by several techniques: with paper filter strips, micropipette tubes using gingival washing and capillary tubing. Harvesting by filter paper strips is the most commonly used method. The collection time can affect the harvested GCF. The composition of GCF can change if the tissue is irritated. The sampling time is usually 30 s or less (Mäntylä *et al.* 2003, 2006), but also 3 min or up to 5 min has been used in GCF studies (Apajalahti *et al.* 2003).

2.1.2 Periodontal ligament

The periodontal ligament connects the tooth to the alveolar bone. The collagen ligaments (principally type I collagen) fill the 0.15-0.4 mm space between the root cementum and the alveolar bone process. The metabolism in the periodontal ligament is even more rapid than in gingival connective tissue. The periodontal ligament is divided into groups depending on its orientation. The principal cells of the periodontal ligament are differentiated fibroblasts. The periodontal ligament acts as a network that forms a defence barrier against mastication forces. The fibroblasts respond to the alterations associated with tooth mobility: connective tissue degradation increases in tissue pressure site where strong masticatory forces are directed, and the construction of the ligament fibres is elevated in stretching site. The periodontal ligament is able to adapt to normal forces and keep the periodontal space standard. Excessive non-physiological forces can cause damage to the periodontal ligament and lead to extension of the periodontal space.

2.1.3 The root cementum

A thin layer of the cementum covers the root of the tooth. **The root cementum** attaches the tooth to surrounding alveolar bone via the periodontal ligament. The root cementum is asymmetrically covered by cementocytes. The thickness of the root cementum is dependent on the masticatory forces: in the pressure site the cement is thinner than in the stretching site. The formation of the cement is linked to the adaptation mechanisms of the periodontium towards the masticatory forces.

2.1.4 The alveolar bone

The alveolar bone is dependent on the existence of the teeth, and the loss of teeth leads to resorption (Araújo & Lindhe 2005). The pressure towards the bone causes the activation of osteoclasts and leads to resorption of the bone, while the stretching forces via the periodontal ligaments activate the osteoblasts to bone formation.

2.2 STRUCTURE AND PHYSIOLOGY OF TEETH

Complete deciduous dentition with 20 teeth and complete permanent dentition with 32 teeth, comprises: 1) enamel, 2) dentine, and 3) dental pulp. The tooth differs from the other organs of the body due to its structure and the exceptionally rich innervation of its pulp.

2.2.1 Enamel

Enamel is semi-translucent. It is grey or bluish-white in colour. Except at the unworn biting edges of the incisors, its colour is modified by that of the underlying dentine, producing the characteristic yellowish-white appearance of the crown. The hardness of enamel is considerable, and this is what allows enamel to withstand masticatory loads and protect the underlying dentine. The modulus of elasticity of enamel is lower than that of dentine just as well is the compliance of enamel lower than that of dentine (Pashley 2002). Enamel is indeed the hardest tissue in the body. In its mature state enamel is highly mineralised, containing by weight 96 per cent inorganic material, 1 per cent organic material and 3 per cent water. The inorganic component of mature enamel is mainly in the form of hydroxyapatite crystals (Berkovitz *et al.* 1978).

2.2.2 Dentine

Dentine forms the bulk of the tooth. In the crown, it is covered by enamel, from which it is demarcated by the amelodentinal junction. In the root it is covered by cementum, the boundary between them

being termed the cemento-dentinal junction. The dentine surrounds the pulp cavity. Dentine is pale yellow in colour, and this is what imparts the colour to the crown of the tooth through the semitranslucent enamel. It is harder than bone and cementum, but much softer than enamel. Because it is traversed by a system of tubules, dentine is considerably more permeable than enamel. On a wet weight basis, dentine is composed of approximately 70 per cent inorganic material, 18 per cent organic material and 12 per cent water. Thus, dentine has a much higher content of organic material than enamel. As in other hard tissues, the principal inorganic component is hydroxyapatite. Most of the organic component is collagen (Berkovitz *et al.* 1978).

2.2.3 Dental pulp

The dental pulp cavity consists of a pulp chamber in the crown from which canal(s) pass down into the root(s). As a general rule, the pulp cavities follow the contours of the teeth. Each root canal opens by a foramen/foramina at the apex of the root. The pulp is continuous with the connective tissue of the periodontal ligament through the apex of each root and commonly lateral or accessory root canals. The components of the pulp are common to all loose connective tissue, comprising cells, fibres, blood vessels and nerves. The fibres of the pulp are principally collagenous. Three types of cells can be recognised in the dental pulp: odontoblast, fibroblast and defence cells. The pulp is composed of approximately 25 per cent organic material and 75 per cent water on a wet weight basis (Berkovitz *et al.* 1978).

2.2.3.1 Blood supply of the tooth pulp

The neurovascular bundle enters the pulp at its apical foramen, which in young teeth is wide and may take the form of a delta with several canals. Arterioles are the largest vessels found in the pulp. The arterioles terminate in a rich, subodontoblastic capillary plexus from which small capillaries pass into the odontoblastic layer. Small venules drain the odontoblast layer and pass obliquely across the pulp chamber to join several small veins in the neurovascular bundle (Berkovitz *et al.* 1978). There are numerous anastomoses between venules and arterioles (Kramer 1960).

2.2.3.2 Nerve supply of the pulpodentin complex

Compared to similar volume of connective tissue elsewhere in the body, the dental pulp is richly innervated. The number of nerve fibres entering the tooth is enormous; for example, the human premolar receives more than 900 sensory afferent nerve fibres (Reader & Foreman 1981). These fibres consist of nociceptive unmyelinated C-fibres (72 per cent) and thinly myelinated A-delta fibres (28 per cent). Regardless of stimulus type (electrical, mechanical, thermal or chemical), the only sensation that can be experienced from the pulp is pain (Anderson *et al.* 1970). The course of the nerves follows

closely that of the blood vessels, terminating in a dense plexus beneath the odontoblasts (Raschkow's plexus) (Berkovitz *et al.* 1978). The number of nerve fibres in the middle third of the pulp is estimated to be three times the number found in the apical area (Holland & Robinson 1983). It has been shown in histological studies that the location of the nerve terminals in dentine is limited to the inner 150-200 µm of the tubules. The outer layers of dentine are not innervated (Byers & Matthews 1981; Byers 1984).

The pulpodentin complex is among the most densely innervated tissues in the body. The profuse innervation of the pulp and dentin contains many neuropeptide-rich fibres that can release peptides when stimulated. The timing, concentration and location of secreted neuropeptides act as important signals for other pulpal cells about the status of the tooth. Neural agents are an important signal for neurogenic inflammation for stimulation and repair (Byers & Närhi 2002).

The vasodilatory functions of sensory innervation in teeth are opposed by vasoconstriction by the sympathetic fibres (Olgart 1996). The sympathetic fibres are much less numerous than are sensory fibres (Fried *et al.* 1988). Sympathetic fibre distribution also differs from that of sensory fibres in that they are located mainly in deeper pulp and along blood vessels. Parasympathetic activity can affect blood flow in teeth, but it is not clear whether that is from intradental or periodontal sites; in any case, the relative importance of parasympathetic activity is much less than that of sympathetic activity (Olgart 1996).

Some afferent nerve fibres may branch to innervate both the dental pulp and the adjacent tissues or multiple teeth. To some extent, such organization may contribute to the poor localization of dental pain and may also allow neurogenic vasodilatation and inflammatory reactions to occur in an area of tissue wider than that affected by the original insult. Correspondingly, within the dental pulp the terminal branching of the nerve fibres may contribute to the spread of inflammatory reactions (Närhi *et al.* 1996).

2.2.3.3 Differences between the nerve supply of the pulpodentin complex and the supporting tissues

The tooth pulp is surrounded by a capsule of hard tissue, and the pulp lacks the receptor structures that are typical of the skin. The fact that pain and the weaker prepain are the only sensations which can be felt by the stimulation of pulpal nerves is in accordance with the notion that the pulp contains only free nerve endings instead of specialised receptor structures. The pulpal nerve fibres have their cell bodies located far away in the trigeminal ganglion for sensory neurons. The apical region of the tooth is supplied with several nerve branches that are distributed both to the pulp and periodontium. The apical region is also innervated by branches coming through the alveolar bone and along the mucous membrane of the mouth (Byers 1984).

The nerve fibres in the pulp and dentin are components of a larger trigeminal peripheral nervous system that also includes sensory innervation of the gingiva, junctional epithelium, periodontal ligament, tongue, lips, mastication muscles, and the temporomandibular joint. Each part of the system contributes different kinds of somatosensory information needed for tooth use and preservation. For example, from the gingiva we perceive sensations of touch, pressure and temperature via activation of special mechanoreceptors or thermoreceptors. The junctional epithelium is richly innervated by sensory fibres that release neuropeptides to regulate vasodilatation and transmigration of leukocytes across the epithelium into the oral cavity in defence against oral pathogens. The periodontal ligament contains a number of Ruffini mechanoreceptors. These mechanoreceptors give us our sensation of tooth touch and occlusal plane during chewing, speech, and swallowing. Some part of the sensory information from the periodontal mechanoreseptors may remain unconscious and subserve automatic responses needed for the regulation of masticatory functions. All the orofacial tissues also have specific and polymodal nociceptive nerve fibres that initiate acute pain sensation if there is damage or inflammation. Together, the multiple nerve fibre systems of these regions provide an integrated regulatory system acting on teeth and their supporting tissues (Byers & Närhi 2002).

In the last few decades, a number of studies have addressed the question of bilateral innervation of the maxillary incisors. There is at present no consensus as to whether the nerves may cross the maxillary midline or not, since some reports (Anderson *et al.* 1977; Avery 1979; Fuller *et al.* 1979; Byers & Matthews 1981; Saag & Reid 1981) have demonstrated electrophysiological and anatomical evidence for such innervation. However, similar studies by some researchers have found little or no evidence of a bilateral supply (Matthews & Lisney 1978; Nord & Rollince 1980; Arvidsson & Gobel 1981; Byers 1984). It is possible that technical problems, such as spread of histological label from the pulp to contralateral tissues, might account for the discrepancy in observations (Sessle 1987).

2.3 PAIN

The taxonomy committee of the International Association for the Study of Pain (Merskey 1979) considered definitions of pain and concluded as follows: "Pain is an unpleasant sensory and emotional experience associated with actual or potential tissue damage, or described in terms of such damage."

2.3.1 Transmission of orofacial nociceptive information to the central nervous system (CNS)

Pain in the orofacial region has a special biological, emotional, and psychological meaning to the patient. Furthermore, apart from headache, which may also involve structures in the mouth and face, acute orofacial pain accompanying acute pathologic states in the teeth and associated structures is probably the most common pain in all the body (Sessle 1987).

2.3.1.1 Nociceptors (Pain receptors)

The peripheral terminals of sensory nerves are characterised by the ability to transduce different types of energy into nerve impulses. Peripheral unmyelinated and finely myelinated axons have in the periphery unmyelinated terminals, which have no specialised receptive structures and are termed free nerve endings. Pain is conducted by two different sets of neurons: thin myelinated A-delta fibres with conduction velocities of 12-30 m/s and neurons with unmyelinated C-fibre axons with conduction velocities of 0.5-2.5 m/s (Guyton & Hall 1996).

Because of this organization, the sensation perceived in response to noxious stimulation consists of two discrete and different components: first sharp and well-localised pain mediated by A-delta fibres, and then delayed, dull pain that is mediated by C-fibres. This C-fibre mediated pain can radiate to a wide area surrounding the affected tissue (Mumford & Bowsher 1976; Närhi 2003). The activation of C-fibres leads to tension of muscles and activation of the autonomic nervous system (Holzer 1988).

2.3.1.2 Trigeminal nerve

The trigeminal nerve (the fifth cranial nerve) is the most significant nerve subserving the orofacial structures. The trigeminal nerve is a mixed nerve containing both sensory and motor fibres (Sessle 2000). The trigeminal nerve is divided into three major divisions: the ophthalmic, the maxillary, and the mandibular. In addition to the trigeminal nerve, the facial nerve (the seventh cranial nerve) with its motor component supplies the muscles of facial expression.

The ophthalmic nerve carries sensory information from the scalp and forehead, the upper eyelid, the conjunctiva and cornea of the eye, the nose (including the tip of the nose), the nasal mucosa, and the frontal sinuses. The maxillary nerve carries sensory information from the lower eyelid and cheek, the nares and upper lip, the upper teeth and gums, the nasal mucosa, the palate and roof of the pharynx, the maxillary, ethmoid and sphenoid sinuses. The mandibular nerve carries sensory information from the lower lip, the lower teeth and gums, the floor of the mouth, the anterior ²/₃ of the tongue, the chin and jaw. The mandibular nerve has both sensory and motor functions comprising the motor innervation of the jaw opening and closing muscles. The areas of cutaneous distribution (dermatomes) of the three branches of the trigeminal nerve have sharp borders with relatively little overlap (unlike dermatomes in the rest of the body, which show considerable overlap).

The three branches converge on **the trigeminal ganglion** (also called **the semilunar ganglion** or **gasserian ganglion**), which contains the cell bodies of afferent sensory nerve fibres. The trigeminal ganglion is analogous to the dorsal root ganglia (also called **the spinal ganglion**) of the spinal cord, which contain the cell bodies of afferent sensory fibres from the rest of the body.

2.3.1.3 The orofacial pain pathways in the CNS

From the trigeminal ganglion, a single large sensory root enters the brainstem at the level of the pons. Immediately adjacent to the sensory root, a smaller motor root emerges from the pons at the same level.

The areas that are reviewed here are the trigeminal nuclear complex, the reticular formation, the thalamus, the limbic structures and the cortex. They are discussed in the order by which neural impulses pass on to the higher centres. Additionally, a few specific comments about innervation and circulation of cranial blood flow are emphasised.

Following activation, the C-fibres and finely myelinated A-delta fibres from orofacial tissue such as dental pulp or gingiva transmit nociceptive signals, primarily via trigeminal nerves, to **the trigeminal nuclear complex** located in the medulla. The sensory complex can be subdivided into the main (principal) sensory nucleus and the spinal tract nucleus. The trigeminal spinal tract nucleus includes the nucleus oralis, nucleus interpolaris, and nucleus caudalis. The subnucleus caudalis extends into the cortical spinal cord and merges with the spinal dorsal horn (Sessle 1987). The nucleus caudalis is not simply a relay station where nociceptive signals are passively transferred to higher brain regions. Rather, this site plays an important role in processing nociceptive signals (Hargreaves 2002). Sessle and colleagues have further proposed that a large proportion of the nociceptive neurones in trigeminal nuclei showing extensive convergence from skin, mucosa, visceral (laryngeal), TMJ, jaw or tongue muscle, tooth pulp, and even neck afferents may underlie the spread and referral of pain which is frequently seen in many craniofacial and intra-oral pain conditions (Sessle 1987).

After the primary sensory afferent neurons synapse in the nucleus caudalis, the interneurons transmit the impulses up to the higher centres, some of them passing through an area called **the reticular formation**. Neurones in each part of the V brainstem complex have axons that may project directly or indirectly, via reticular formation, to the thalamus and are thus implicated as critical elements underlying perceptual as well as emotional and motivational responses to orofacial stimuli (Sessle 1987). The reticular formation controls the overall activity of the brain by either enhancing the impulses on the brain or by inhibiting the impulses (Kalso & Vainio 2004).

At the level of **the thalamus** the sensory information is sent to its specific nuclei. The thalamus is located in the very centre of the brain, and most of the impulses from the lower regions of the brain as well as the spinal cord are relayed through synapses in the thalamus before proceeding to the cerebral cortex (Dionne *et al.* 2006). The thalamus drives the cortex to activity and enables the cortex to communicate with the other regions of the CNS. Current theory states that the areas of

the brain involved in pain processing can be divided into two networks: the lateral pain system, which projects through lateral thalamic nuclei to **the cerebral cortex** including the primary and secondary somatosensory cortex (SI and SII); and the medial pain system, which projects through medial thalamic nuclei to brain regions including the prefrontal and anterior cingulate cortex. The lateral pain system is thought to be responsible for the sensory aspects of pain, such as its location and duration, while the medial pain system is thought to be responsible for the responsible for the emotional aspects of pain, such as how unpleasant it feels. In the study of Jantsch *et al.* (2005), cortical representation of tooth pain was compared with that of painful mechanical stimulation to the hand. In this study it was concluded that the contralateral SI cortex was activated during painful mechanical stimulation of the hand, whereas tooth pain led to bilateral activation of SI. Thus, there are distinct differences between trigeminal pain and pain from other regions of the body, such as the hand.

The limbic structures function to control our emotional and behavioural activities (Evers *et al.* 1981). Within the limbic structures are centres, the medial pain projection system, which are responsible for specific behaviours, such as anger and rage. The limbic structures also control emotions, such as fear, depression and anxiety. The limbic system is well known to play an important role in pain problems. Modern imaging studies in humans have indicated that the frontal cortical areas get input from the limbic structures (Bantick *et al.* 2002). More recently it has been shown that in frontal cortical regions especially trigeminal pain, e.g. tooth pain, has a greater impact compared to hand stimulation (Jantsch *et al.* 2005). It is concluded that trigeminal pain activates a cortical network which is in several respects different from that activated by painful mechanical stimulation of the rest of the body, not only in the somatotopically organised somatosensory areas but also in parts of the limbic medial pain projection system (Jantsch *et al.* 2005).

The trigeminal nerve innervation supplies a rich network of perivascular fibres to the cranial circulation, which contains powerful vasodilator neuropeptides (May & Goadsby 1999). Electrical stimulation of the trigeminal ganglion in both humans and the cat leads to increase in extracerebral blood flow and local release of both CGRP and SP (Edvinsson & Goadsby 1988). Based on more extensive studies in humans it was concluded that the observed dilation of the cerebral vessels in trigeminal pain is not inherent to a specific headache syndrome, but is rather a feature of the trigeminal neural innervation of the cranial circulation. Clinical and animal data suggest that the observed vasodilatation is, in part, an effect of a trigeminoparasympathetic reflex (May & Goadsby 1999).

2.3.1.4 Effect of orofacial painful stimuli on cardiovascular parameters via the autonomic nervous system (ANS)

The autonomic nervous system (ANS) is the part of the peripheral nervous system that controls cardiovascular, digestive and respiratory functions, as well as salivation, perspiration and diameter of the pupils. ANS is separated into two divisions: the sympathetic and the parasympathetic. Sympathetic and parasympathetic divisions typically function in opposition to each other. However, this opposition is better termed complementary in nature rather than antagonistic. As an analogy, one may think of the sympathetic division as the accelerator and the parasympathetic division as the brake. The sympathetic division typically functions with actions requiring quick responses, while the parasympathetic division functions with actions that do not require immediate reaction. Sympathetic can be considered as "fight or flight" and parasympathetic as "rest and digest" (Tracey 2002).

Both sympathetic and parasympathetic fibres have a preganglionic and a postganglionic nerve cell. They meet at a ganglion, where the nerve impulse is transferred from cell to cell, at a synapse, by the chemical transmitter acetylcholine. In parasympathetic fibres, the transmitter in postganglionic nerve fibres is again acetylcholine, while noradrenaline serves as the transmitter in the sympathetic system. Most of the sympathetic nerve filaments that have an effect on blood vessels cause vasoconstriction. The parasympathetic nervous system dilates blood vessels, for example those leading to the GI tract, increasing the blood flow (Nienstedt *et al.* 2004). Noxious stimulation of the orofacial structures has been shown to induce active somato-parasympathetic vasodilatation in the cat face (Izumi & Karita 1992; Shoji 1996).

Nociceptive responses to noxious orofacial stimuli include muscle reflexes and autonomic responses. For example, changes in blood pressure, heart rate, respiration, and sweating have long been recognised as accompaniments of craniofacial pain and have indeed often been utilised as indirect measures of pain (Sessle 1987, 2000).

Pain is able to produce central cardiovascular changes, and, in particular, blood flow changes in various peripheral structures mediated by sympathetic effects in most parts of the skin. However, in part of the face, the blood flow changes are probably mediated by parasympathetic nerves (Drummond 1995; Kemppainen *et al.* 2001a). In parasympathetic nerves, acetylcholine often co-exists with vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), which is one of the body's most potent vasodilator substances with a long half-life (Brayden 1987). There is evidence that orofacial organs like the tongue, lip and submandibular glands are innervated by both cholinergic and VIP-ergic parasympathetic nerves (Lundberg 1981, 1982; Kaji *et al.* 1988).

2.4 DISEASED PERIODONTIUM

Chronic periodontal inflammation is characterised by increased irreversible degradation of periodontal ligament collagen fibres leading to loss of tooth attachment and apical and lateral migration of gingival sulcular epithelial cells. The initiation of the degradation of the periodontium starts with release of products from the bacteria. The bacterial products, including lipopolysaccharides (LPS), have been shown to be able to stimulate resident cells, including sulcular epithelial cells and gingival fibroblasts, but also recruited polymorphonuclear leukocytes and macrophages (Birkedal-Hansen 1993; Ding *et al.* 1996; Gemmel *et al.* 1997) to secrete pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines and proteinases (Owen *et al.* 2004; Sorsa *et al.* 2006).

Polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) are triggered by pro-inflammatory signals and are the predominant phagocytic cells in the gingival crevice and gingival crevicular fluid (Taichman & Lindhe 1989). Increased PMN numbers have been related to the severity of gingival inflammation (Taichman & Lindhe 1989). Infiltrating PMNs in inflamed gingiva and periodontal pockets are considered to be important and essential in the pathogenesis of periodontitis due to their ability to release molecular mediators involved in both local host defence and periodontal tissue injury (Taichman & Lindhe 1989). Activated PMNs migrate through blood vessels and move directionally through tissues to bind to and phagocytose harmful microorganisms. During phagocytosis PMN subgranular and lysosomal enzymes are released not only into the phagocytic vacuole, but also extracellularly (Weiss 1989; Page 1991). The PMN enzymes that can be released into the extracellular fluid and mediate extracellular damage include several proteases with wide destructive capacity, such as serine proteinases (elastase and cathepsin G), and the matrix metalloproteinases MMP-8 (PMN collagenase) and MMP-9 (PMN gelatinase). It is noteworthy that certain MMPs such as MMP-8 and -9 have recently been found to exert, in addition to their surrogate tissue destructive properties, also unexpected protective and defensive anti-inflammatory properties (Balbin et al. 2003; Uitto et al. 2003; Sorsa et al. 2004; Owen et al. 2004; Folgueras et al. 2004; Gueders et al. 2005).

2.5 INFLAMMATION

The inflammatory response is stimulated by the release and activation of several mediators. Inflammation has been classified into acute and chronic, using the duration of the process as the criterion. The acute inflammatory process is characterised by three main stages (Scott *et al.* 1994):

- 1. Vasodilatation and increased blood flow to the area.
- 2. Increased vascular permeability with leakage of plasma from the microcirculation.
- 3. Migration of phagocytic leukocytes from the microcirculation into the surrounding tissue.

Among the critical processes in inflammation is the delivery of leukocytes to the site of irritation. As for example gingival or pulpal blood flow increases at the site of inflammation (due to vasodilatation and increased vascular permeability), leukocytes move to a more peripheral position in the vessels, a condition called margination. Eventually, the leukocytes roll along the endothelial wall and finally adhere to the endothelial lining. Then they move through the gaps between the endothelial cells and transmigrate along the chemotactic gradient through the basement membrane toward the site of inflammation. Bacterial products, such as LPS, acting as targets for the host's endogenous inflammatory mediators (complement components and chemokines such as IL-8) may act as chemoattractants for the consequent leukocyte recruitment and extravasation (Fouad 2002).

In the earliest stage of inflammation (the initial lesion), increased vascular leakage and the accumulation of polymorphonuclear leukocytes results in tissue oedema and the destruction of perivascular collagen fibres. The earliest stages of inflammation are probably mediated in part by the release of histamine from mast cells (Listgarten 1987). Collagenolysis has been observed due to MMP-8, MMP-9 and serine proteases (elastase, cathepsin G and proteinase 3) being released from the PMNs. However, intracellular collagen degradation by fibroblasts cannot be discounted (Listgarten 1987; Uitto *et al.* 2003; Sorsa *et al.* 2006).

2.6 NEUROGENIC INFLAMMATION

Neurogenic inflammation is a general term used to describe the local neurogenic process induced by the release of neuropeptides such as substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) from the peripheral nerve terminals of the afferent neurons. The release of these neuropeptides induces a local vasodilatation and can also be the initiating factor in the inflammatory response (Figure 1). This process appears to play an important role in the pathogenesis of some diseases, such as migraine (Moskowitz 1992). Moskowitz (1990) has provided a series of experiments to suggest that the pain of migraine may be a form of sterile neurogenic inflammation. Neurogenic plasma extravasation can be seen during electrical stimulation of the trigeminal ganglion in the rat (Markowitz *et al.* 1987). May and Goadsby (1999) took the view that certain disorders should be collectively regarded as neurovascular headaches to emphasise the interaction between nerves and vessels.

The vasodilatation evoked around the site of a noxious skin stimulus was suggested by Bruce (1913) to be the result of an axon reflex. The hypothesis was supported by Lewis (1937), who postulated that the flare component was mediated by local axon reflexes, called axon-reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammation. Later studies have identified the nerves involved in the vascular axon reflex to be capsaicin-sensitive, nociceptive C afferent fibres (Jancsó, Jancsó-Gábor & Szolcsányi 1967; Kenins 1981; Chahl 1988). Lewis suspected a histamine-like substance to be the transmitter substance, but today substance P is generally thought to be the primary mediator.

Activation of capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerves by antidromic electrical stimulation or by chemical irritants such as capsaicin evokes the co-release of substance P and CGRP (Lundberg *et al.* 1985). The release of these peptides from peripheral terminals of sensory neurones is then followed by increased microvascular permeability, i.e. neurogenic inflammation (Holzer 1988). Presumably, a similar mechanism may also be involved in the aetiology of several inflammatory reactions of the oral mucosa through activating the primary sensory fibres in the case of uneven tooth-crown edges and fillings standing out and irritating the mucosa as well as strong chemical stimuli and various bacterial toxins (Fazekas *et al.* 1990). Antidromic nerve stimulation or cutaneous application of irritants not only produces vasodilatation but also increases vascular permeability, thereby allowing the extravasation of plasma proteins (Jancsó *et al.* 1967, 1968) and leukocytes (Helme *et al.* 1985).

The phagocytic activity of both macrophages (Bar-Shavit *et al.* 1980; Hartung *et al.* 1986) and polymorphonuclear leukocytes (Payan *et al.* 1984) is enhanced by SP. The area of vasodilatation corresponds to the size of the receptive fields of afferent polymodal C-fibres.



Figure 1. A schematic drawing of efferent activations of nociceptors: Pain – Inflammation – Blood flow alterations: a model of neurogenic inflammation. Upon activating C-fibres in the oral mucosa, mediators, namely neuropeptides, are released from the peripheral terminals of afferent nerves, causing characteristic symptoms of neurogenic inflammation. Also activation of cutaneous nociceptive afferents with capsaicin and painful electrical stimulation causes release of neuropeptides locally from the peripheral nerve terminals. A noxious stimulus leads to action potentials in nociceptive fibres that propagate not only to the central nervous system but also antidromically into peripheral branches. These antidromic action potentials lead to the release of MMPs and neuropeptides such as substance P (SP), calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP), and neurokinin A (NKA). These substances can stimulate epidermal cells and immune cells or lead to vasodilatation, plasma extravasation, and smooth muscle contraction (modified from the original figure by Ian Suk, Textbook of Pain, 2006).

2.6.1 Mediators of inflammation

Most aspects of acute inflammation are due to the action of host-derived substances rather than the direct action of the offending agent. There is also interaction between mediators. The combination of mediators present is probably more important than the presence of any one mediator in determining the physiologic response to inflammation.

2.6.1.1 Cytokines

These are a group of more than 100 proteins or peptides that modulate and control body defence and repair, including inflammation. They are described as local hormones and cell-to-cell messengers. Although most of the cytokines present in an inflammatory process are produced by inflammatory cells such as monocytes/macrophages, lymphocytes, and neutrophils, they may also be produced by a number of noninflammatory cells, which for example in the dental pulp would include fibroblasts, and endothelial cells (Fouad 2002).

Cytokines include chemotactic cytokines (chemokines), interleukins, interferons and tumour necrosis factors. Cytokines can stimulate (chemokines and pro-inflammatory cytokines) or inhibit (anti-inflammatory cytokines, interferons) the inflammation (Scott *et al.* 1994; Julkunen *et al.* 2003).

• IL-1 has several systemic effects such as fever and the synthesis of acute-phase proteins and prostaglandins (Fouad 2002). IL-1 is a cytokine with pro-inflammatory effects. IL-1 is expressed in two isoforms: IL-1 α and IL-1 β . At the moment the more important immune parameter in periodontal research is interleukin 1 β (IL-1 β). This substance has become a focus of interest since it is known to be the most potent osteoclast-activating factor in the human organism (Dewhirst *et al.* 1985; Alexander & Damoulis 1994). IL-1 β enhances bone resorption and inhibits bone formation (Nguyen *et al.* 1991). For example, certain MMPs including MMP-8 can be secreted by gingival fibroblasts stimulated by IL-1 β (Abe *et al.* 2001, Cox *et al.* 2006). Stress might affect periodontal health by increasing local IL-1 β levels, especially when oral hygiene is neglected (Deinzer *et al.* 1999).

• IL-8 is a activating factor for neutrophils.

• IL-6, a mediator of acute inflammation, which is produced by resident cells, especially in the macrophages, in the inflamed area (Meri 2003). IL-6 was initially thought to be pro-inflammatory, but is now recognised to be an immunoregulatory and anti-inflammatory cytokine. The anti-inflammatory functions of IL-6 are caused by suppression of IL-1 and TNF- α (Tilg *et al.* 1997). IL-6 causes the formation of acute-phase proteins such as fibrinogen and C-reactive protein (CRP) in the liver.

• TNF- α can stimulate MMP synthesis and osteoclastic bone resorption. TNF- α may contribute to tissue degradation in periodontitis (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997; Tervahartiala *et al.* 2001).

2.6.1.2 Other mediators of inflammation

• PGE₂, prostaglandin E₂ participates in the development of the inflammatory reaction principally by potentiating the effects of other mediators rather by having a direct effect. The cyclo-oxygenase (COX) pathway leads to the generation of prostaglandins. It may be blocked by the addition of indomethacin, a prostaglandin synthetase inhibitor. Prostaglandins are also involved in the pathogenesis of pain. The direct involvement of prostanoids in for example pulpal pain has been proposed when the intravenous administration of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs (NSAIDs), which are known to block the COX pathway, resulted in significant inhibition of stimulated nerve activity in cat pulp (Ahlberg 1978; Fouad 2002).

• Histamine is a potent vasodilatator and mediator of vascular permeability. Histamine is found in connective tissue mast cells, basophils and platelets that are often located near blood vessels. Histamine is present in cell granules and is released by cell degranulation in response to a variety of stimuli (Fouad 2002).

• Serotonin (5-hydroxytryptamine, or 5-HT) is a neurotransmitter synthesised in the central nervous system (CNS) and gastrointestinal tract. In the central nervous system, serotonin is believed to play an important role in the regulation of body temperature, mood, sleep, vomiting, sexuality, appetite and inflammation. Low levels of serotonin have been associated with several disorders, namely clinical depression, tension-type headache, and fibromyalgia (Bendtsen *et al.* 1997; Wolfe *et al.* 1997).

• **Bradykinin** is a powerful algesic agent and is also considered a major mediator of pain in inflammatory conditions. Specific bradykinin receptors are found on nociceptive primary afferents (Steranka *et al.* 1988), and administration of bradykinin not only generates sensory impulses but may also cause the release of transmitters from peripheral sensory neurons. Evidence to support this comes from the observation that bradykinin-induced plasma protein extravasation in the skin is reduced in animals pre-treated with capsaicin (Jancsó *et al.* 1980), a neurotoxin which selectively destroys unmyelinated sensory fibres in the skin (Jancsó *et al.* 1967).

2.7 MATRIX METALLOPROTEINASES (MMPs)

MMPs are a family of zinc-depended, structurally related but genetically distinct enzymes that degrade extracellular matrix (ECM) and basement membrane (BM) components. This group of 23 human enzymes is mainly classified based on substrate specificity and molecular structure. Humans have 24 matrixin genes including duplicated MMP-23 genes; thus there are 23 MMPs in humans (Nagase *et al.* 2006; Sorsa *et al.* 2006). MMPs are involved in physiological processes such as tissue development, remodelling and wound healing (Uitto *et al.* 2003; Sorsa *et al.* 2006), and play important roles in the regulation of cellular communication and immune functions by processing bioactive molecules including cytokines, hormones and growth factors (Sorsa *et al.* 2004). MMPs are consequently functionally active and catalytically competent at physiological pH and temperature (Nyberg *et al.* 2006). The importance of calcium ions for the optimal catalytic competence of MMPs is reflected by the inhibition of the enzyme activity by metal chelators such as EDTA and the tetracyclines (Golub *et al.* 1994; Visse & Nagase 2003).

2.7.1 General structure of MMPs

The MMPs share a common domain structure. The three common domains are the prodomain, the catalytic domain and the haemopexin-like C-terminal domain, which is linked to the catalytic domain by a flexible hinge region (Visse & Nagase 2003). The prodomain usually consists of about 80 amino acids and contains a conserved cysteine residue that can bind to the zinc atom in the catalytic domain. The disruption of this bond, usually mediated as a result of cleavage(s) of the prodomain, is required for activation of the latent proenzyme to its catalytically competent form. The C-terminal domain is thought to be involved in protein-protein interactions, determines substrate specificity and is the site for TIMP interactions.

2.7.2 Classification of the MMPs

The MMPs can be subdivided in different ways. The most commonly used groupings are based on their structural homology and substrate specificity. These six groups are 1) collagenases (MMP-1, -8 and -13), 2) gelatinases (MMP-2 and -9), 3) stromelysins (MMP-3, -10 and -11), 4) matrilysins (MMP-7 and -26), 5) membrane-type (MT-)MMPs (transmembrane type and GPI-anchored elastase) and 6) other MMPs including metalloelastase (MMP-12), enamelysin (MMP-20), epilysin (MMP-28), CA-MMP (MMP-23), and MMP-19, -21, and -27 (Visse & Nagase 2003). MMP-4, MMP-5, MMP-6 and MMP-22 are missing from the list since they were shown to be identical to other members (Nagase *et al.* 2006). It is becoming increasingly clear that these divisions are somewhat artificial as there are a number of MMPs that do not fit into any of the traditional groups.

2.7.2.1 Members of the MMP family with a role in periodontal tissue remodelling

Collagenases are capable of initiating degradation of native fibrillar collagen types I, II, III and IX (Weiss 1989). Fibroblast-type collagenase **MMP-1** is regarded to be more associated with normal tissue remodelling than with tissue degrading processes (Birkedal-Hansen 1993; Golub *et al.* 1998). **MMP-8** is synthesised by differentiating granulocytes in the bone marrow and stored in specific granules of circulating neutrophils. However, there are also other cellular sources of **MMP-8**. Expression of **MMP-13** has been reported in the pocket epithelium in human periodontitis, helping the pocket epithelium to invade into periodontal connective tissue (Tervahartiala *et al.* 2000; Kiili *et al.* 2002).

Gelatinases MMP-2 and MMP-9 degrade gelatins (collagens that have been denatured by interstitial collagenases), collagens IV, V, VII, X and XI, elastin, and BM components (Owen & Campbell 1999).

Other MMPs also have a role in periodontal tissue remodelling. The stromelysin subfamily members MMP-3 (stromelysin-1), MMP-10 (stromelysin-2), MMP-11 (stromelysin-3) and macrophage metalloelastase (MMP-12) do not themselves cleave collagen, but they act synergistically with collagenases and gelatinases. The matrilysin subgroup member MMP-7 (matrilysin-1) is synthesised by epithelial cells and it can degrade several ECM and BM components as well as activate TNF- α and several proMMPs including proMMP-8 (Balbin *et al.* 1998). Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) mainly exert their activity on the cell surface. MMP-14 can be detected in periodontitis-affected GCF (Tervahartiala *et al.* 2000).

2.7.3 Activation

MMPs are expressed at low levels in normal tissues, but are upregulated during inflammation (Birkedal-Hansen 1995). MMPs are mostly produced in latent, non-active form, and activation through a so-called cysteine switch is required for the enzyme function. In most cases, activation involves removal of the prodomain, resulting in lower molecular weight active forms (Nagase 1997), although the most recent studies indicate that *in vivo*, the proforms of at least certain MMPs may also be active while in full size or in complex with certain proteins (Bannikov *et al.* 2002; Fedarko *et al.* 2004). So, as MMPs are secreted as proenzymes they have to be cleaved in order to be activated. MMPs can be activated by serine proteases (trypsin and plasmin) (Sorsa *et al.* 1997; Moilanen *et al.* 2003), other MMPs, microbial proteases (Sorsa *et al.* 1992) as well as other factors such as oxygen-derived free radicals (Saari *et al.* 1990)(Figure 2). Most of the activation data have been gained from in vitro experiments, and the activation processes in vivo are not well characterised. Most likely MMP activation *in vivo* involves tissue and plasma proteinases and bacterial proteinases together with oxidative stress (Nagase 1997). Secreted MMPs are usually activated extracellularly or at the cell surface, the best-known example of cell surface activation being the activation of MMP-2 in the MMP-2/TIMP-2/MT1-MMP complex. Several MMPs may also be activated intracellularly by furin or related proprotein convertases (Nagase 1997).



Figure 2. Activation of MMPs (source derived from: Chakraborti et al. 2003; Sorsa et al. 2006).

2.7.4 Inhibitors

MMP activity is controlled by changes in the delicate balance between the expression and synthesis of MMPs and their major endogenous inhibitors, **tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases** (**TIMPs**). Also serum α -2 macroglobulin inhibits MMPs, but TIMPs are the major group of MMP inhibitors in tissues and body fluids (Sternlicht & Werb 2001). The catalytic competence of MMPs is controlled through the activation of proenzymes, and the inhibition of the activation by TIMPs (Uitto *et al.* 2003).

TIMPs comprise a family of four protease inhibitors: TIMP-1, TIMP-2, TIMP-3 and TIMP-4. Overall, all MMPs are inhibited by TIMPs once they are activated, but the gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) can form complexes with TIMPs when the enzymes are in the latent form. In addition to TIMPs, MMP activity can be controlled by synthetic inhibitors, which generally contain a chelating group such as EDTA, which binds tightly the catalytic zinc atom at the MMP active site. MMPs can also be inhibited by chlorhexidine (Gendron *et al.* 1999).

2.7.5 Synthetic inhibitors

Synthetic inhibition of MMPs offers an interesting possibility to control MMP-related diseases in which extensive tissue destruction is involved (Owerall & Lopez-Otin 2002). A large number of synthetic MMP inhibitors have been designed and synthesised, and some have been clinically tested for the treatment of patients with cancer or arthritis, but they have shown little efficacy so far (Baker *et al.* 2002). A number of rationally designed MMP inhibitors, such as the gelatinase-specific CTTHWGFTLC-peptide (CTT) (Koivunen *et al.* 1999; Pirilä *et al.* 2001; Heikkilä *et al.* 2006) and doxycycline and chemically modified tetracyclines (CMTs) developed by Golub *et al.* in 1987 have shown some promise in the treatment of pathologies involving excessive MMPs. Moreover, biphosphonates have been demonstrated to inhibit the activities of MMPs (Teronen *et al.* 1997, 1999; Heikkilä *et al.* 2002).

One approach in MMP inhibition is aimed at chelation of the enzyme's active site, Zn^{2+} ion (Hidalgo & Eckhardt 2001; Coussens & Fingleton 2002). The first MMP inhibitors to enter clinical trials in tumour treatment, batimastat and marimastat, base their MMP inhibitory effect on chelation (Coussens & Fingleton 2002). Tetracyclines and their non-antimicrobial analogues, chemically modified tetracyclines (CMTs), inhibit MMPs through several mechanisms. In addition to Zn^{2+} chelation, they can downregulate MMP mRNA expression, interfere with the protein processing during activation, and render the MMPs more susceptible for degradation (Golub *et al.* 1998).

2.7.6 MMP-8 (Collagenase-2) in periodontal tissue remodelling

Matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8, collagenase-2) along with MMP-1 (fibroblast-type collagenase-1) and MMP-13 (collagenase-3) are the major members of the interstitial collagenase subgroup of the MMP family. Interstitial collagenases mediate the initial step in interstitial collagen degradation by cleaving the three polypeptide chains at a single locus three-fourths of the distance of the collagen molecule from its N-terminal end (Gross & Nagai 1965). The three-fourth and one-fourth fragments generated denature spontaneously, and the denatured collagen fragments (gelatins) are susceptible to further cleavage by gelatinases (MMP-2 and MMP-9) and to lesser extent by other MMPs (including MMP-8) and gelatinolytic serine proteinases (Owen & Campbell 1999). The known ECM substrates of MMP-8 are collagens I-III, VII, X, gelatine, proteoglycans, bradykinin, substance P and pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines/mediators (Sternlicht & Werb 2001).

MMP-8 is stored as a latent enzyme (pro-MMP-8) within the specific granules of PMN (Murphy *et al.* 1977). Pro-MMP-8 is rapidly released from activated PMN undergoing degranulation (Hasty *et al.* 1986; Balbin *et al.* 1998), and is then activated via the cysteine switch mechanism and is transformed into the active form of the enzyme (Springman *et al.* 1990). Activation can be achieved *in vitro* by organomercurials (Blaser *et al.* 1991), serine proteinases (Moilanen *et al.* 2003), MMP-3 (Knauper *et al.* 1993), microbial proteases (Sorsa *et al.* 1992) and reactive oxygen species (Saari *et al.* 1990).

Previously it was thought that the expression and release of MMP-8 was limited to neutrophils (Weiss 1989), but at present it is clear that many non-PMN-lineage cell types present in the normal and diseased human periodontium (gingival sulcular epithelial cells, fibroblasts and endothelial cells, monocyte/macrophages, plasma cells and gingival mast cells) can be induced to express distinct MMPs including MMP-8 (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997; Tervahartiala *et al.* 2000; Wahlgren *et al.* 2001; Kiili *et al.* 2002; Prikk *et al.* 2002; Næsse *et al.* 2003; Sorsa *et al.* 2004; Sorsa *et al.* 2006).

The expression of the 50 kD mesenchymal MMP-8 isoform has been detected in various non-PMN lineage cells, such as synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997), gingival sulcular epithelial cells (Tervahartiala *et al.* 2000), oral cancer cells (Moilanen *et al.* 2002, 2003) and plasma cells (Wahlgren *et al.* 2001). PMN-type MMP-8 is secreted in a latent 75-80 kD form and converted to a 65 kD active form upon PMN degranulation (Ding *et al.* 1996, 1997), and non-PMN-type 55 kD latent MMP-8 isoform is converted to a 45 kD active species upon activation (Moilanen *et al.* 2002, 2003). MMP-8 can also be found elevated and activated in high-molecular-weight bands (>100 kD) representing complexed enzyme. The high molecular-weight immunoreactivity is probably MMP-8 complexed to its endogenous inhibitors, i.e., α -2 macroglobulin (α -2M) and tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinase (TIMPs), or a result of dimerisation (Ingman *et al.* 1996; Chen *et al.* 1998). The low-molecular-weight at <30 kD species most likely represents degraded fragments of MMP-8 (Apajalahti *et al.* 2003).

The major collagenase species detected in inflamed human periodontium is MMP-8 (Sorsa *et al.* 1988, 1999; Mancini *et al.* 1999; Romanelli *et al.* 1999). In contrast to a healthy patient's gingiva, extracts of untreated gingival tissue and gingival crevice fluid (GCF) from periodontitis patients contain pathologically elevated levels of collagenase-2 (MMP-8) in catalytically active form (Kiili *et al.* 2002; Sorsa *et al.* 2004, 2006). Association between increased GCF collagenase activity and progressive loss of connective tissue attachment has been demonstrated (Lee *et al.* 1995). As in other inflamed tissues, MMPs are also present in inflamed dental pulp tissue (Wahlgren *et al.* 2002) and periapical lesions (Wahlgren *et al.* 2001, 2002). MMP-8 activity and release are regulated by cytokines (tumour necrosis factor- α , interleukin-1 β and interleukin-8) and various periopathogenic bacteria and their virulence factors (Ding *et al.* 1996, 1997; Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997). On the other hand, MMP-8

seems to have an anti-tumour activity in breast carcinomas (Agarwal *et al.* 2003). Recent data from Balbin *et al.* (2003) demonstrate that MMP-8 has an unexpected role in vivo in protecting male mice from the development of skin tumours in a chemical carcinogenesis model.

MMP-8 has been considered as the prime target for anticollagenolytic adjunctive low-dose doxycycline medication in the treatment of periodontitis (Golub *et al.* 1988; Suomalainen *et al.* 1992; Sorsa *et al.* 2006; Reinhardt *et al.* 2007).

2.8 NEUROPEPTIDES

2.8.1 Function of neuropeptides

Studies using anatomical, histochemical and immunological methods have revealed the presence of a variety of peptides in afferent neurons, and based on functional evidence, it would appear that at least some of these substances play a mediator or transmitter role (Holzer 1988).

Neurons use many different chemical signals to communicate information, including neurotransmitters and peptides. Neurotransmitters, such as glutamate and aspartate, generally affect the excitability of other neurons, by depolarising or hyperpolarising them (Dickenson 1989). Peptides have much more diverse effects; among transmission, they are able to cause both vasodilatation and protein extravasation due to an increased vascular permeability (Lembeck & Holzer 1979; Gamse *et al.* 1980).

Neuropeptides are released from the peripheral terminals of afferent nerve fibres. Unmyelinated and finely myelinated axons with unmyelinated terminals, which are not associated with specialised receptive structures, are termed free nerve endings. It is these unmyelinated C-fibres that are associated with the release of neuropeptides into the surrounding tissue (Scott *et al.* 1994).

Neuropeptides may contribute to the inflammatory process via several mechanisms. Firstly caused by the local vasodilatation/extravasation and followed by the release of inflammatory mediators such as histamine, PGE₂, collagenases, IL-6, and tumour necrosis factor (TNF). There is also potentiation of chemotaxis, phagocytosis and lymphocyte proliferation (Payan 1989; Hargreaves *et al.* 1994; Brain 1997).

2.8.2 Substance P

Neuropeptide **substance P** (**SP**) is a short-chain polypeptide that functions as a neurotransmitter and neuromodulator. It belongs to the tachykinin neuropeptide family. The endogenous receptor for SP is neurokinin 1 receptor (NK1-receptor, NK1R).

Data in the literature have shown it likely that the 11 amino acid residue polypeptide SP (Euler & Gaddum 1931) has a crucial role in the pathogenesis of neurogenic inflammation. Lembeck (1953) was the first to propose that this peptide, isolated from the intestine, may be a primary neurotransmitter at the afferent fibre terminals as well (Euler & Gaddum 1931).

In addition to SP, also other neuropeptides released from the peripheral terminals of sensory fibres can act as transmitters in evoking neurogenic inflammation (Andersson *et al.* 1988). These include CGRP, somatostatin, vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP), neurokinin A (NKA) and neurokinin B (NKB) (Rosenfeld *et al.* 1983; Fischer *et al.* 1985; Andersson *et al.* 1988).

The release of peptides such as SP, NKA and CGRP has long been implicated in neurogenic inflammation, and many studies support the hypothesis that neuropeptides are involved in the pathophysiology of inflammatory diseases (Maggi 1995; Alstergren *et al.* 1995; Olgart 1996a). Body fluids such as saliva and gingival crevice fluid can be used in identifying markers of inflammation. The composition of these fluids changes during inflammation. In this context, the levels of the neuropeptides SP and CGRP have been measured in human saliva from patients with migraine and cluster headache (Nicoldi *et al.* 1990). Both NKA and SP evoke the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines from human monocytes (Lotz *et al.* 1988).

When an acute injury occurs, SP is released from primary afferent fibres along with other neuropeptides, such as CGRP, to cause vasodilatation of blood vessels supplying the injured area. The presence of SP also increases blood vessel permeability, facilitating the passage of cells such as macrophages and other substances essential for protective and healing processes at the injured site. SP causes the release of histamine from mast cells (Bear *et al.* 2001). The transitory nature of this response may be an important self-regulatory mechanism, as extended extravasation of inflammatory mediators to the injured area might have deleterious consequences.

Substance P can be measured with several methods including radioimmunoassay (RIA), enzyme immunoassay (EIA or ELISA) and immunohistochemistry. RIA for substance P has been developed by several groups (Powell *et al.* 1973; Yanaihara *et al.* 1976; McGregor & Bloom 1983). RIA is a quantitative method that permits measurement of tissue levels of substances rather than the anatomic location information provided by immunohistochemistry. However, in terms of safety, sensitivity and ease of handling, there have been disappointments with RIA methods. In 1982, Stjernschantz *et al.* reported an enzyme immunoassay (EIA) for substance P using a polystyrene plate coated with SP-poly-D-glutamic acid conjugate as a solid-phase antigen. The enzyme immunoassay (EIA) has been developed further by academic (Takeyama *et al.* 1990) and industrial research teams over the past decade, and nowadays the EIA method has been found to be safe and effective. On that account, we decided to concentrate on using a competitive EIA kit for substance P in this study.

2.8.3 Neuropeptides in GCF in periodontal health and disease

Many studies support the hypothesis that neuropeptides in general and tachykinins (SP and NKA) in particular are involved in the pathophysiology of inflammatory disease (Maggi 1995). Changes in the levels of SP, NKA and CGRP have previously been reported in GCF in relation to periodontal health and disease (Linden *et al.* 1997; Lundy *et al.* 1999, 2000). Bartold *et al.* (1994) have shown that SP can influence human gingival fibroblast proliferative and synthetic activity, and suggested that the action of this peptide could switch from a catabolic pro-inflammatory mode to an anabolic tissue regenerative mode depending on the presence of other factors.

Studies on innervation of the gingiva obtained from periodontitis-affected sites have provided some useful information with regard to the potential role of a neurogenic contribution to periodontal inflammation. In particular, the role of locally released neurogenic peptides as inflammagens cannot be discounted. Substance P, which is released from primary sensory afferent nerves, has significant pro-inflammatory actions (Lembech & Holzer 1979) and has been proposed to play a role in neurogenic inflammation of the periodontal tissues (Bartold *et al.* 1994). Many neurogenic peptides have been identified in inflamed gingival tissues and observed to localise throughout the connective tissues and around blood vessels (Luthman *et al.* 1989). Although these neurogenic peptides are present in healthy tissues, an upregulation of these potent bioactive molecules could have a significant impact on the initiation and establishment of the inflammatory response.

In a previous study, Linden *et al.* (1997) reported an increase in SP and NKA levels in periodontitis compared with healthy GCF, with SP having a stronger correlation with periodontitis than NKA. CGRP was not detectable at any periodontitis site, and it was concluded that some components of GCF were responsible for degrading CGRP in periodontitis (Lundy *et al.* 1999). In their later study Lundy *et al.* (2000) reported that CGRP, but not SP or NKA, is degraded by a carboxypeptidase present in GCF from periodontitis-affected sites.

The pathophysiology of periodontal disease is complex and the tachykinin SP in GCF may only play a part in the process, as it is unlikely that any single factor is responsible for the initiation and progression of disease. Therefore, it was crucial for us to study also the relationship of GCF SP levels to collagenase-2 (MMP-8), which is regarded to be among the major destructive proteases, especially in the periodontitis-affected gingival crevice fluid (GCF). Nevertheless, MMP-8 in GCF may also reflect initial protective or defensive processes (Owen *et al.* 2004, Gueders *et al.* 2005; Sorsa *et al.* 2006)
2.8.4 Neuropeptides in GCF of painful teeth

Whenever an insult causes activation of the intradental axons, the initial reaction in the pulp tissue is neurogenic vasodilatation mediated by the terminals of the afferent nerve fibres. Antidromic transmission along the collateral terminal branches of the axons results in the release of neuropeptides, which induce vasodilatation and an increase of permeability of the blood vessel walls.

Three neuropeptides are abundant in the dental pulp: SP, neurokinin A (NKA), CGRP (Akai & Wakisaka 1990). The mean levels of SP and NKA are significantly higher in gingival crevice fluid from painful teeth compared with non-painful teeth (Awawdeh *et al.* 2002b). During inflammation, sprouting of pulpal nerve fibres has been shown to be associated with increased expression of SP or CGRP closely surrounding the areas of inflammation or abscess (Kimberly *et al.* 1988; Byers 1992).

The extensive branching of the pulpal afferents also allows spreading of the neurogenic effects in a wider area of the pulp than was originally stimulated. It is also possible that activation of axons innervating the pulp and the surrounding structures may result in a spread of the neurogenic inflammatory reactions between the adjacent tissues in relatively early stages of inflammation (Olgart 1996b).

It is not clear what happens to the neuropeptides released from peptidergic nerve terminals in pulp tissue. They could be degraded locally or diffuse into the periodontal ligament through the apical foramen and, subsequently, the gingival crevice. However, after release the neuropeptides are metabolised by peptidases, which leads to termination of their activity (Lundy *et al.* 2000).

There is evidence that SP is responsible for the initiation of vasodilatation, whilst CGRP mediates the late and more dominant phase of vasodilatation in inflammation (Olgart 1996b), and there has been no evidence of a clear association between the levels of CGRP in GCF and dental pain (Awawdeh *et al.* 2002b). The aim of our present study was to compare the levels of SP and MMP-8, a potential proinflammatory compound, in human gingival crevice fluid of painfully stimulated and non-stimulated teeth.

2.9 PAINFUL STIMULATION, VAS AND LDI-IMAGING

2.9.1 Tooth pulp stimulation

There has been a recent research focus on the neurobiology of the tooth pulp, largely because of the clinical relevance of the pulp to orofacial pain and the concept that the pulp is a most useful model for studying pain by virtue of its being a pure source of nociceptive input to the CNS. When stimuli are applied through the hard tissues, only electrical stimulation (Virtanen 1991) and cold stimulation (Jyväsjärvi & Kniffki 1986) are accurate enough for reproducible activation and characterisation of pulpal nerve fibres.

The dental pulp is well known to be densely innervated by the axons of sensory nerves (Byers 1984; Fried *et al.* 1988), the activation of which can produce severe pain (Van Buren & Kleinknecht 1979). Electrical stimulation of the tooth has been used as a method for selective activation of pain pathways in both human and animal studies (Mahan & Anderson 1970; Andersson *et al.* 1973; Janhunen & Närhi 1977; Martin & Chapman 1979; Toda *et al.*1980).

In the study of Närhi *et al.*(1982), tooth stimulation currents of up to 200 μ A were used, but activation of periodontal fibres was not obtained, even when applied to the periodontium. This indicates that an electrical current below 200 μ A does not activate extrapulpal fibres in monopolar tooth stimulation. In the present work, the average tooth stimulation was 47 μ A. Accordingly, it is most likely that only intrapulpal afferent fibres were activated during tooth stimulation in this study.

In research, painful tooth stimulation is usually performed by a constant current tooth stimulator (Närhi *et al.* 1982; Kemppainen *et al.* 1985). The electrical tooth stimulator constructed for this purpose uses mostly a monopolar electrode, where the current passes from the cathode on the intact surface of the tooth crown through the pulp to the anode, which is attached to the skin. The electrical current flows through all the tissues between the cathode and anode. The cathode of the stimulator has to be fixed to the tooth. If the electrode moves along the tooth surface there is also a change in the resistance between the electrodes and in the spreading of the current into the tooth, which affects the number of the nerve fibres activated. Monopolar tooth stimulation is a reliable method for the activation of intradental nerves both in experimental animals and human subjects. The risk of exciting nerve fibres in tissues surrounding the tooth is minimal, provided that the stimulator, the intensity, duration and frequency of the pulse can be precisely controlled. The optimal pulse duration is the time needed to activate a nerve fibre with minimal current intensity. The duration of the current pulse most commonly used in tooth stimulation is 10 ms and the frequency 5 Hz (Närhi 1985; Virtanen 1985).

There are two types of afferent nerve fibres within the pulp, which are activated in different ways (Närhi *et al.* 1996). Myelinated A-fibres, stimulated by cold, heat or drilling, cause fast, well-localised pain, whereas unmyelinated C-fibres, activated by stimuli which cause damage to pulp tissue, produce dull, poorly localised pain (Närhi *et al.* 1992). Electrical tooth stimulation (pulse duration 10 ms, frequency 5 Hz) at detection level activates selectively A-delta fibres, and by increasing the stimulus current it is possible to activate also pulpal C-fibres (Närhi 1985; Virtanen 1985). In addition to activation of pulpal nociceptive fibres and following pain sensation, noxious stimulation of the tooth pulp also triggers the autonomic nervous system, leading to a more widely spread systemic reaction such as changes in systemic blood pressure and heart rate (Dellow & Morgan 1969; Kemppainen *et al.* 1994, 2000a, b).

2.9.2 Capsaicin stimulation

Capsaicin, 8-methyl-N-vanillyl-6-nonenamide, is the strong ingredient in hot chili peppers of *the Capsicum* genus, and it selectively activates the unmyelinated C-fibre class of nociceptors (Caterina *et al.* 1997). Capsaicin has been shown to be a non-invasive method to activate C-nociceptive fibres in human skin (Kilo *et al.* 1995). Initial application of capsaicin to skin produces irritation and increase in sensitivity. This reaction is thought to be due to capsaicin-induced release of substance P from peripheral sensory C-fibres. After the initial exposure, capsaicin produces a long-lasting desensitisation to burn and pain (Bernstein 1988). Systemic capsaicin pre-treatment of adult rats causes a dose-dependent loss of unmyelinated fibres (Jancsó *et al.* 1987). Capsaicin is used as a therapy for temporary relief of neuralgia, and has been studied because of its properties as a stimulant of sensory nerves and neuropeptide release *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The *in vivo* effects of capsaicin on cutaneous sensation are known to differ depending on the dose and the duration of application (Green & Flammer 1988).

Activation of capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerves by electrical stimulation or by chemical irritants such as capsaicin evokes the co-release of substance P and CGRP (Lundberg *et al.* 1985). The release of these peptides from peripheral terminals of sensory neurons is followed by increased microvascular permeability, i.e. neurogenic inflammation (Holzer 1988). More recent animal studies (Fazekas *et al.* 1990; Kondo *et al.* 1995) have shown that the application of capsaicin on gingivomucosal tissues induces similar inflammatory reactions in these tissues.

2.9.3 Visual Analogue Scale (VAS)

In the present study, the subjects evaluated their pain experience to painful stimulation by the VAS method. Earlier studies have found the system to be very appropriate (Huskisson 1974; Seymour *et al.* 1985; Oliver and Knapman 1985; Wilson *et al.* 1989; Ngan *et al.* 1994; Awawdeh *et al.* 2002a, b). On the VAS scale, 0 = no pain and 100 = the worst imaginable pain intensity.

2.9.4 Laser Doppler perfusion Imaging (LDI)

A laser Doppler perfusion imager (LDI) was introduced by Nilsson, Jakobsson & Wårdell in 1990. In the LDI technique, a low-power He-Ne laser beam (wavelength 632 nm) is directed through a computer-controlled optical scanner at the tissues, which are scanned by moving the laser beam step by step in a rectangular pattern over the selected regions. With this technique, the median sampling depth is about 0.2 mm. In the presence of moving blood cells, a fraction of the light is Doppler-shifted, detected and converted into an electrical signal for further processing. The output signal is then sampled and stored by a personal computer. From the captured perfusion values a colour-coded image is generated and presented on a monitor (Wårdell *et al.* 1993; Kemppainen *et al.* 2001a, b). LDI provides relative information about the movement of red blood cells in the superficial tissue structures and the ability to instantaneously measure relative blood flow without touching the tissue.

The LDI system employs the same working principle as other conventional laser Doppler flowmeters (LDF). LDF flowmeter allows the measurement of erythrocyte flux in approximately one cubic mm of the capillary bed. However, a conventional LDF can only provide measurements of tissue perfusion at a single location, whereas the LDI system, depending on the model, allows averaging and spatial mapping of blood flow changes for a selected tissue area from 1 x 1 mm up to 50 x 50 cm in width. Thus, the LDI system is far more suitable for studying e.g. spatial and temporal characteristics of pain- and inflammation-evoked blood flow changes in the skin and gingivomucosal tissues.

The information of vascular changes in experimental and clinical inflammation sites studied with the LDI system for other tissues of the body (Wårdell *et al.* 1993) reveals its excellent value for monitoring vascular changes and clinical status in the gingiva and alveolar mucosa.

3 AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main purpose of this work was to clarify neuronally driven reflex mechanisms underlying pain-induced circulatory and inflammatory changes in human gingival tissues. Experiments were carried out especially to find out the functional role of unmyelinated nociceptive C-afferent fibres in relation to pain experience and inflammatory reactions and blood flow regulation in the gingiva.

Earlier animal studies have suggested that peripheral axons of the trigeminal nerves may cross the midline and innervate bilaterally maxillary incisors (Anderson *et al.* 1977). Here, we designed a series of experiments to determine whether experimental tooth pain or capsaicin-evoked vasodilatation in the gingiva crosses the midline of the maxilla. If this axon reflex vasodilatation crossed the midline, the experiments might show functional evidence for transmedian innervation in maxillary gingiva in humans.

Inflammatory reactions typically associated with pain have been shown to provoke expressions of proinflammatory mediators such as interleukin-1 β , tumour necrosis factor- α and prostaglandins (Uitto *et al.* 2003; Sorsa *et al.* 2006). Matrix metalloproteinase MMP-8 is known to be the major MMP especially in periodontitis-affected GCF (Kiili *et al.* 2002). With this background, we also wished to study the effects of experimentally evoked tooth and gingival pain on GCF of MMP-8. Elevated levels of neuropeptide SP have been reported in GCF in relation to periodontal inflammation (Linden *et al.* 1997). Therefore, experiments were also performed to determine the effect of inflammatory tooth pain on GCF levels of SP.

The specific aims of this study were:

1. To clarify the spatial extensions and differences between tooth stimulation and capsaicin-induced neurogenic vasodilatation in human gingiva (*I*).

2. To study whether axon reflex vasodilatation in maxillary gingiva crosses the midline (*I*).

3. To demonstrate painful tooth and gingival stimulation evoked responses in MMP-8 levels in GCF (*II*, *III*).

4. To investigate whether painful tooth stimulation provokes changes in GCF SP and MMP-8 levels (*IV*).

5. To clarify the characteristics of SP and MMP-8 in tooth stimulation analysed from GCF (IV).

4 MATERIALS AND METHODS

Detailed methods are described in the original publications I- IV.

4.1 SUBJECTS, STIMULATION TECHNIQUES, MEASUREMENTS AND SAMPLES

In all *studies I, II, III* and *IV*, the subjects were healthy graduate students or researchers ranging from 21 to 45 years in age. All subjects fulfilled the following criteria: 1) no history of systemic diseases, 2) no history of antibiotics within the preceding 6 months.

Approvals for the studies were provided by the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Erlangen-Nürnberg (*study 1*) and the Ethics Committee of the Medical Faculty of the University of Helsinki (*studies II, III* and *IV*). All volunteers gave informed consent for participation.

In studies *I*,*II*,*III* and *IV*, during the experiments, heart rate (HR) and blood pressure (BP) responses were recorded semi-automatically from the arm by a non-invasive cuff method. These heart rate and blood pressure measurements were performed in order to clarify whether capsaicin-evoked pain and/ or pulpal pain may have induced cardiovascular responses. The subjective pain levels were evaluated by a visual analogue scale, VAS (0 = no pain, 100 = the worst imaginable pain intensity).

In *study I* seven healthy human volunteers were tested in three separate experiments. All subjects were adults and had excellent oral health. For experiments one and two, filter paper moistened with capsaicin was positioned unilaterally to either the attached gingiva or the alveolar mucosa between the permanent upper first and second incisor. For the third experiment, the dental stimulation was generated with a constant-current tooth stimulator. In all three experiments, stimulation-induced blood flow changes in buccal attached gingiva and oral mucosa were mapped by laser Doppler perfusion imager (LDI; MoorLDI-MS2, Moor Instruments Ltd., UK).

Study II was performed on eight generally and periodontally healthy human adult volunteers. The dental stimulation was generated with a constant-current tooth stimulator. The stimulation period lasted 90 s. GCF samples were collected from the stimulated upper right central incisor, from the non-stimulated upper left lateral incisor, and from the non-stimulated lower right central incisor.

Samples were taken before the stimulation began and during stimulation, followed by samples taken 4 and 8 min after the end of stimulation. After one week, in the second control session GCF samples were collected similarly without tooth stimulation from six subjects. The molecular forms of MMP-8 on GCF from the stimulation and control sides were analysed by the Western immunoblot method and the MMP-8 concentrations in the GCF samples were determined by time-resolved immunofluorometric assay (IFMA).

Study III was completed with ten generally and periodontally healthy human adult volunteers. For stimulation, filter paper moistened with capsaicin was positioned in each subject unilaterally on alveolar mucosa at the site of the upper central incisor. The GCF samples were collected bilaterally from gingival crevices of several incisors in the upper jaw. The samples were taken before, during and after capsaicin stimulation. In the second control session, GCF samples were collected similarly without capsaicin stimulation from 10 subjects who had participated in the first session. The GCF samples from the stimulation and control sides were studied by Western immunoblotting. MMP-8 concentrations in the GCF samples were determined by time-resolved immunofluorometric assay (IFMA).

Six generally and periodontally healthy human adult volunteers participated in *study IV*. The dental stimulation was generated with a constant-current tooth stimulator. The stimulation period lasted 90 s. GCF samples were collected from the stimulated upper right central incisor and the non-stimulated lower right central incisor. Samples were taken before the stimulation began and during stimulation, followed by samples taken 4 and 8 min after the end of stimulation. After one week, in the second control session GCF samples were collected similarly without tooth stimulation from six subjects. The substance P concentrations in the GCF samples were determined by enzyme immuno assay (EIA) and the MMP-8 concentrations were determined by time-resolved immunofluorometric assay (IFMA).

In *studies I, II* and *IV* the cathode of the stimulator was glued to an intact upper incisor through a metal cylinder glued to the tooth. The distance from the gingival margin was at least five millimetres. The anode was attached to the arm of the subject. The cathode was surrounded by material with high resistance to prevent connection between the cathode and extrapulpal tissues. Electrode paste was applied to the cylinder to ensure contact between cathode and the tooth. The stimulator had a built-in circuit for measuring the electrode resistance. The resistances of the stimulated teeth were monitored throughout the experiment in monopolar coupling, and they ranged from 1.5 to 4 M Ω . Dental pain thresholds were always determined prior to the experiments, and they ranged from 10-18 μ A. The permanent upper central incisor was electrically stimulated at an intensity of 1.5 x (*study II*) and 3 x (*study II* and *IV*) the individual pain threshold.

4.1.1 Blood flow measurements

In *study I* simulation-induced blood flow changes in buccal attached gingiva and oral mucosa were mapped by laser Doppler perfusion imager (LDI). Scanning times of 60 s (capsaicin experiments) and 90 s (tooth stimulation experiments) were used, during which the spatially mapped bilateral images from the oral mucosa and attached gingiva of the anterior maxilla could be documented. The LDI information was given on the spatial distribution of possible vasoactive changes from separate tissues simultaneously. Sympathetically maintained vasoconstriction of peripheral skin vessels was monitored by blood flow measurements on the skin of the right index finger by laser Doppler flowmetry (LDF; Periflux Pf2B, Perimed AB, Stockholm, Sweden).

4.1.2 GCF sampling

In *studies II, III* and *IV* prior to GCF sampling the sampling site was isolated with cotton rolls, and supragingival plaque was carefully removed. The region was dried with a gentle air stream, and GCF was collected by using standardised filter paper strips. The strip was placed into the crevice until mild resistance was felt, and left there for 30 s. After that, each strip was immediately placed in a polypropylene tube. The GCF volume was measured by weighing the polypropylene tube with the filter paper strip inside, before and immediately after the sample collection. Thereafter, each strip was eluted into buffer solution.

4.2 MMP-8 IMMUNOFLUOROMETRIC ASSAY (IFMA)

In *studies II, III* and *IV*, MMP-8 concentrations in the GCF samples were determined by a timeresolved immunofluorometric assay (IFMA) as described by Hanemaaijer *et al.* (1997) and Mäntylä *et al.* (2003). The monoclonal antibodies 8708 and 8706 (Medix Biochemical, Kauniainen, Finland) for MMP-8 were used as catching antibody and tracer antibody, respectively. The tracer antibody was labelled using europium-chelate (Hemmilä *et al.* 1984). The assay buffer contained 20 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.5), 0.5 M NaCl, 5 mM CaCl2, 50 µM ZnCl2, 0.5% bovine serum albumin, 0.05% sodium azide, and 20 mg/l DTPA. Samples were diluted in assay buffer and incubated for one hour, followed by incubation for one hour with tracer antibody. Enhancement solution was added, and after 5 min fluorescence was measured using 1234 Delfia Research Fluorometer (Wallac, Turku, Finland).

The monoclonal MMP-8 antibody specificity corresponded to that of the polyclonal MMP-8 antibody (Hanemaaijer *et al.* 1997; Sorsa *et al.* 1999; Mäntylä *et al.* 2003). MMP-8 concentrations (μ g/l) determined during painful tooth stimulation were compared with the MMP-8 concentrations in gingivitis and periodontitis GCF published previously by Mäntylä *et al.* (2003).

4.3 MMP-8 WESTERN IMMUNOBLOTTING

In studies II and III, GCF samples from the stimulation and control sides were studied by using the ECL-Western blotting analysis system (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Piscataway, NJ, USA). Samples were treated with 4 x Laemmli buffer, without reductant, and heated for 5 min at 100°C. SDS-PAGE standards (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA) served as low range molecular weight markers. Human polymorphonuclear leukocytes (PMNs) and rheumatoid synovial fibroblast culture media, as described by Hanemaaijer et al. (1997), served as positive controls for PMN- and fibroblast-type MMP-8 isoforms. The samples were separated on 4 to 11% SDS-PAGE gels and then electrophoretically transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Richmond, CA, USA). The non-specific binding sites on the membranes were blocked with 5% dry milk powder (Valio, Finland) mixed with TTBS for one hour at 37°C, after which the membranes were washed with TTBS six times, for 10 min each. The membranes were incubated overnight with I antibody, IgG fractions of specific rabbit polyclonal anti-human MMP-8 antibodies (1:250 dilution in TTBS). After six 10 min washes with TTBS, the membranes were incubated with II antibody, IgG fractions of ECL anti-rabbit horseradish peroxidase (1:800 dilution in TTBS) for one hour. After that, six washings with TTBS were done, each for 10 min. The molecular forms of MMP-8 on GCF were visualised by incubating the nitrocellulose membranes in ECL detection reagents, and exposing the membranes to x-ray films. The intensities of different molecular weight forms of MMP-8 were analysed with quantitated computer image scanning (Model GS-700; Bio-Rad) as described by Hanemaaijer et al. (1997); Kiili et al. (2002); Prikk et al. (2002); Apajalahti et al. (2003).

4.4 SUBSTANCE P ENZYME IMMUNOASSAY (EIA)

4.4.1 Assay procedure

We measured substance P in GCF from the stimulated and control teeth using a competitive enzyme immunoassay kit (Takeyama *et al.* 1990; Fujishima *et al.* 1997; Hanioka *et al.* 2000; Yamada *et al.* 2002) as recommended by the manufacturer. The EIA kit for SP was the Substance P immunoassay (R&D Systems Inc, Minneapolis, MN, USA). The GCF samples were diluted in EIA assay buffer to perform assays for SP. The serial diluted standards for SP were 9.8-10,000 pg/ml, and all standards and samples were assayed in duplicate. Total activity (TA), non-specific binding (NSB), maximum binding (B0), and substrate blank wells were run with each assay as means of quality control for each assay. Substance P assay is based on the competitive binding technique, in which substance P present in a sample competes with a fixed amount of alkaline phosphatase-labelled substance P for sites on a rabbit polyclonal antibody. During the incubation, the rabbit polyclonal antibody became bound

to the goat anti-rabbit antibody coated onto the 96-well microplate. Following a wash to remove excess conjugate and unbound sample, a substrate solution added to the wells determined the bound enzyme activity. Immediately following colour development, the absorbance was read at 405 nm on a microplate reader (Labsystems Multiscan RC). The intensity of the colour was inversely proportional to the concentration of substance P (SP) in the sample.

4.4.2 Calculation of results

The dublicate readings were averaged for each standard and sample and the average NSB optical density was subtracted. Serial dilutions of standards were run for each plate and their optical densities (ODs) were used in constructing a standard curve by placing the mean absorbance for each standard on a linear y-axis against the concentration on a logarithmic x-axis. The concentration of substance P was calculated from the standard curve. The highest and lowest standard of these wells was taken as a cut-off point for detectability and any reading below or over that was considered undetectable. The concentration of substance P was multiplied corresponding to the dilution. Results were expressed as ng/l (=pg/ml) in the sample.

4.5 STATISTICAL ANALYSES

In *study I*, all data (except rating) were normalised to baseline due to large inter-individual variability. The mean of the three baseline values was taken as 100%, and all succeeding values were expressed as a percent change of the individual baseline. For statistical analysis, the continuous data record was similarly reduced to average response values of three-minute time windows: one prior (= baseline) and four after the stimulation began. To compare the responses in gingival blood flow, we performed an analysis of variance (ANOVA), repeated-measure design, with the factors stimulus type (capsaicin in oral mucosa, capsaicin in attached gingiva, and tooth stimulation) and time period. Post hoc planned comparisons were performed on significant factors. Changes to baseline were tested by means of a Wilcoxon matched-pair test of the data from all subjects.

In *study II*, MMP-8 values were normalised due to large inter-individual variability. The grand mean of all MMP-8 values from each measurement site was calculated separately. For ongoing statistical analysis, the means of baseline, stimulation, 4 min after, and 8 min after the end of stimulation values were extracted and normalised with this grand mean (percent change as compared with grand mean). Friedman non-parametric ANOVA was then used to compare baseline, stimulation, and post-stimulation periods. In case of significance, Wilcoxon's matched-pair test was performed for *post hoc* comparisons.

In *study III* at each stimulation site, the two precapsaicin values (pre 1 and pre 2) of each subject and stimulation site were averaged to a single baseline value for ongoing analysis. Statistical comparisons between baseline and experimental positions were performed by Wilcoxon matched pair tests. Normalising was done by calculating relative changes as compared to baseline and using these values to compare responses between sites by Wilcoxon matched-pair test.

In *study IV* A Friedman non-parametric ANOVA was used to compare baseline, stimulation and post-stimulation periods for MMP-8 values and SP values. In case of significance, a Wilcoxon matched pair test was performed for *post hoc* comparisons of baseline with stimulation and with post-stimulation periods. To compare corresponding SP values of upper and lower tooth these values were normalised. For this, the grand mean of all SP values from each measurement site was calculated and each value was expressed as percent of grand mean. For comparisons, Wilcoxon's matched pair tests using these normalised values were performed. The same type of normalisation was performed on the MMP-8 values and used for the mean values shown in the figures.

In all *studies I, II, III* and *IV*, a probability value (P) of less than 0.05 was considered to represent a significant difference.

5 RESULTS

5.1 GCF FLOW, HR AND MAP

Evaluation of clinical parameters of sites exposed to tooth or capsaicin stimulation and control sites demonstrated that in addition to the general health of the volunteers, their gingival and periodontal health was excellent. GCF flow rate was not affected by painful tooth stimulation and capsaicin application. In *studies I, II, III* and *IV*, stimulation had no marked effects on systemic heart rate or mean arterial blood pressure values.

5.2 VASODILATATION RESPONSES IN TOOTH AND CAPSAICIN STIMULATION

In *study I* the average pain magnitude estimates were significantly higher during tooth stimulation than during capsaicin stimulation of the alveolar mucosa and attached gingiva. The respective maximum VAS scores were 78 ± 4 , 32 ± 3 , and 17 ± 4 . The capsaicin-induced vasodilatation rapidly attenuated in the midline. In ipsilateral gingiva, the vasodilatation responses were affected by the stimulation paradigm: The highest responses were caused by capsaicin on alveolar mucosa, the second highest by capsaicin on attached gingiva, and the lowest effects by tooth stimulation. On contralateral gingiva, the vasodilatation responses also depended on the stimulation paradigm: the highest vasodilatation was caused by painful tooth stimulation, the second highest by capsaicin on alveolar mucosa, and the lowest effects by capsaicin on alveolar mucosa, and the lowest effects by capsaicin on alveolar mucosa, and the lowest effects by capsaicin on alveolar mucosa, and the lowest effects by capsaicin on attached gingiva. High-intensity tooth stimulation induced a transient elevation in MAP and HR concomitant with a significant blood flow reduction in the finger. Neither of the capsaicin stimuli provoked any significant changes in MAP or HR responses. In comparison with capsaicin stimuli, the more painful tooth stimulation tended to induce a more marked blood flow reduction in the finger.

5.3 MMP-8 IN GCF WITH PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION

In *study II* the average intensity of painful tooth stimulation was $47 \pm 2.2 \,\mu$ A. The respective average pain magnitude estimate on VAS scores was 74.4 ± 3.8 , which can be considered quite a high discomfort on a scale from 0-100. Stimulation of tooth 11 significantly raised MMP-8 levels (IFMA analysis) in adjacent GCF. These pulpal-pain-evoked elevations in MMP-8 levels occurred during stimulation

and remained elevated four and eight minutes after the end of stimulation. Simultaneously, no marked changes in GCF MMP-8 levels could be detected at tooth 22 or tooth 41. The control session without stimulation showed that the repeated measurements themselves did not modulate GCF MMP-8 levels. The elevated MMP-8 levels in the GCF of the stimulated tooth were clearly lower than those of the gingivitis and periodontitis sites in our earlier study (Mäntylä *et al.* 2003). The representative Western immunoblot for molecular forms and degree of activation of MMP-8 of the stimulated incisor showed that the samples contained bands at 60 to 80 kDa corresponding to PMN-type active and pro-enzymes, and from 45 to 55 kDa corresponding to mesenchymal-type (non-PMN) active and pro-enzymes. No marked changes appeared in blots for MMP-8 of the non-stimulated teeth.

5.4 MMP-8 IN GCF WITH CAPSAICIN STIMULATION

In *study III* the average pain magnitude estimate on VAS scores was 17 ± 4 , which can be considered a very mild pain level on a scale from 0-100. Capsaicin stimulation of the alveolar mucosa was effective to induce significant elevations in MMP-8 levels obtained by IFMA measurement in the GCF of the tooth at the stimulation site (= tooth 21) and of the neighbouring tooth (= tooth 22). These elevations in MMP-8 levels already began to appear during stimulation and remained for 30 min after the end of stimulation. Responses were significantly higher at the capsaicin stimulation side than on the contralateral side.

The control session without capsaicin stimulation showed that repeated measurement itself did not modulate GCF MMP-8 levels. We found that capsaicin stimulation elevated and activated the high molecular-weight-complex and PMN-type MMP-8 species and non-PMN-type MMP-8 species at the stimulation site. Capsaicin stimulation did not induce any marked changes in Western blots for MMP-8 of the teeth on the contralateral side.

5.5 MMP-8 AND SUBSTANCE P IN GCF WITH PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION

In *study IV* the average intensity of painful tooth stimulation was $45 \pm 6.6 \mu$ A. The respective average pain magnitude estimate on VAS scores was 67.5 ± 6.3 . Stimulation of the tooth 11 significantly increased the SP and MMP-8 levels in the adjacent GCF. For SP, the maximal effect was found during the stimulation period, and for the MMP-8 the most significant elevation was noted 4 min after the end of stimulation. Simultaneously, no marked changes in GCF SP or MMP-8 levels could be detected at tooth 41. Control session without stimulation showed that the repeated measurements themselves did not modulate GCF SP or MMP-8 levels.

6 DISCUSSION

In this study, capsaicin-induced inflammatory reactions in gingivomucosal tissues did not cross the midline in the anterior maxilla. The enhanced reaction found during stimulation of alveolar mucosa indicated that alveolar mucosa is more sensitive to chemical irritants than attached gingiva. These results indicated that capsaicin-evoked neurogenic inflammation in gingiva can trigger the expression and activation of MMP-8 in GCF of the adjacent teeth. It was also concluded that pulpal pain can induce local elevations in MMP-8 and SP levels in GCF.

There has been a lack of overview in the field of the possible relation of oral diseases and neurogenic inflammation. The present studies were designed to find out whether the observation on the mechanisms of the neurogenic inflammatory reactions described for other organs and tissues (Holzer 1988; Wårdell et al. 1993) are also valid in the gingiva and alveolar mucosa. We thus presumed that the activation of primary sensory fibres may play a role in the development of pathological reactions in those tissues of the mouth initiated and affected by bacterial toxins, metabolites, heat and masticatory forces. In general, occlusal interferences are a factor thought to contribute to the pathogenesis of periodontitis and may lead to poor response to periodontal treatment. The application of mechanical forces displaces the tooth and induces an inflammatory reaction by the compression of periodontal ligament (Giannopoulou et al. 2006). In a study by Giannopoulou et al. (2006), it was concluded that initial orthodontic tooth displacement by the use of separators induces pain and a rapid release of biochemical mediators. The study further revealed that the clinical findings in the expression of several pro-inflammatory mediators/neuropeptides, such as PGE2, IL-1 and substance P, were associated with initial pain intensity, which is in accordance with our experimental findings. It is possible that neuropeptides, either directly or through the action of these pro-inflammatory mediators, can induce the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases.

Inflammation is a local, protective response to microbial invasion or injury. It must be precisely finetuned and regulated, because deficiencies or excesses of the inflammatory response cause morbidity and shorten the lifespan. The discovery that cholinergic neurons inhibit acute inflammation has qualitatively expanded our understanding of how the nervous system modulates immune responses. The nervous system reflexively regulates the inflammatory response in real time, just as it controls the heart rate and other vital functions (Tracey 2002). Clinical inflammation and pain conditions are associated with blood flow alterations, and in some forms of pain syndromes, pain may be vascular in origin (Goadsby 1997). This project clarifies the functional role of nociceptive C-fibres in relation to a neurogenic spread of inflammation and blood flow changes in orofacial tissues. The knowledge these studies are providing is of clinical significance since it attempts to explain the mechanisms and the key substances such as SP and MMP-8 in the pathogenesis of neurogenic inflammatory reactions in human gingival tissues. Furthermore, the results of this project will be opening new and more adequate diagnostic and treatment possibilities of periodontal and orofacial inflammation.

Furthermore, it is becoming clear that bidirectional communication exists between sensory nerves and inflammatory/immune cells, sustained by release of chemical factors from both sides. The net result of such cross-communication is the establishment of a positive feedback cycle that could play an important role in the genesis and maintenance of both acute and chronic inflammatory processes. The importance of the interaction between the nervous system and immune system signalling has been demonstrated recently in the development of pathological pain. Watkins and Maier (2002) have proposed that cytokines produced by inflammatory and glial cells change neuronal excitability and that this link contributes directly to the development of intractable pain. The ultimate goal of future functional studies of pain and inflammatory reactions in orofacial regions, including teeth and periodontium, is to improve our understanding of how to avoid insults and how to cure inflammation.

6.1 THE SPATIAL EXTENSIONS AND DIFFERENCES BETWEEN TOOTH STIMULATION AND CAPSAICIN-INDUCED NEUROGENIC VASODILATATION IN HUMAN GINGIVA (*1*)

In *study I*, capsaicin stimuli of the gingivomucosal tissues evoked a pronounced vasodilatation in ipsilateral gingiva that rapidly attenuated at the midline of the anterior maxilla. In contrast to this, painful stimulation of the upper central incisor produced comparable blood flow elevations bilaterally in the maxillary gingiva. The contralateral vasodilatations were increased as a function of increasing stimulus-evoked pain estimates. These results indicate that axon-reflex-mediated vasodilatation in the gingiva does not cross the midline of the maxilla, and importantly, that pain may contribute to trigeminal blood flow alterations in humans.

Since axon-reflex vasodilatation is known to spread symmetrically around the nociceptive stimulus and corresponds to the size of the receptive fields of stimulated nociceptive afferents (Wårdell *et al.* 1993), the present results do not favour the hypothesis of functional transmedian innervation of gingival tissues in anterior maxilla, or that peripheral axons are crossing the midline of anterior maxilla in significant numbers. A similar asymmetric blood flow response in relation to the midline

has been found in the skin of the posterior part of the neck (Mentis & Lynn 1992). Our results are also in agreement with those from several anatomical (Fuller *et al.* 1979; Byers & Matthews 1981) and electrophysiological (Saag & Reid 1981; Foster & Robinson 1994) studies in animals showing that cross-innervation of maxillary and mandibular nerves exists rarely, if at all.

LDI, which was used in our study, provides relative information about the movement of red blood cells in the superficial tissue structures and the ability to instantaneously measure relative gingival blood flow without touching the tissue. These features and the sensitivity of the waveform to measure blood flow changes suggest its potential value for monitoring clinical status and early disease detection. In our investigation, we applied the LDI technique for the first time to record blood flow in human gingiva. The current finding – that tooth stimulation evokes bilateral vasodilatation while capsaicin stimulation of the gingiva mainly produces unilateral vasodilatation –emphasises the usefulness of LDI in clarifying spatial features of neurogenic vasoactive changes in the intra-oral tissues.

In our investigation, the contralateral vasodilatations during tooth and capsaicin stimulation were increased as a function of increasing stimulus-evoked pain responses. Interestingly, blood flow increases in the maxillary attached gingiva and oral mucosa were evoked bilaterally, not unilaterally. We hypothesised that such vasodilatations in the oral mucosa might be induced by the autonomic nervous system and mediated via parasympathetic vasodilator fibres. In other words, the current stimulation-related blood flow increase in oral mucosa and attached gingiva in the contralateral region could be based on centrally mediated, parasympathetic vasodilator mechanisms (Izumi & Karita 1992).

In the current study, painful stimuli of the tooth induced a short blood flow decrease in the skin of the finger. These blood flow decreases occurred simultaneously with the transient pain-induced HR and BP elevation. It has been shown that various stimuli causing arousal, mental stress and pain produce an increase in sympathetic nerve traffic and are associated with transient reflex vasoconstriction in the human skin (Lundberg *et al.* 1989; Wallin 1990). Thus, the most convincing explanation for the present pain-induced blood flow decrease in the skin of the finger is a sympathetic vasoconstrictor reflex.

6.2 PAINFUL TOOTH AND GINGIVAL STIMULATION-EVOKED RESPONSES IN MMP-8 LEVELS IN GCF (*II*, *III*)

6.2.1 Painful tooth stimulation

In *study II*, high-intensity stimulation of the upper right incisor induced a local elevation in the GCF MMP-8 levels of the stimulated tooth. In contrast, the GCF MMP-8 levels of the contralateral upper incisor or ipsilateral lower incisor remained unchanged. These results indicate that painful tooth stimulation can induce local inflammatory responses with enhanced proteolytic potential in the very adjacent gingival tissues, and that pulpal pain can contribute to the local regulation of MMP-8 levels in GCF.

The average intensity of the tooth pulp stimulation was 47 μ A, when the upper right central incisor (tooth 11) was electrically stimulated at an intensity of 3x the individual pain threshold. First we studied the tooth pulp stimulation at 1.5x the individual pain threshold with six volunteers (unpublished data), but as it did not have a significant effect on MMP-8 levels, in further experiments 3x the individual pain threshold was used (average current intensity 47 μ A). Only the high intensity tooth stimulation induced increased elevations in MMP-8 levels. The high-intensity stimulus used (47 μ A) activates not only pulpal A-delta fibres but also C afferent fibres (Närhi 1985; Virtanen 1985; Kemppainen *et al.* 2001a, b). Electrophysiological evidence indicates that the maximal strength (below 100 μ A) of the electrical stimulation used in the present study for the dental stimulation, even when applied to the periodontal tissues, does not activate extrapulpal fibres (Närhi *et al.* 1982).

It is known that MMP-8 is present at very low levels in periodontally healthy subjects' GCF (Mäntylä et al. 2003). In our study, experimental tooth pain induced significant elevation in GCF MMP-8 levels (reaching the average levels of 45-55 µg/L) of periodontally healthy volunteers. In patients having gingivitis or periodontitis the GCF MMP-8 levels reach up to 750 µg/l or 2500 µg/l, respectively (Mäntylä et al. 2003). Thus the present elevated MMP-8 levels in the GCF of the painfully stimulated tooth were clearly lower than those of the gingivitis and periodontitis sites in our earlier study (Mäntylä et al. 2003). The physiological relevance of the present results is that experimental tooth pain triggers an active process with increased levels of proteolytic enzymes in GCF similarly to e.g. those seen with tooth pain in symptomatic pulpitis (Awawdeh et al. 2002a) or caused by orthodontic tooth movement (Apajalahti et al. 2003, Giannopoulou et al. 2006). More generally, the GCF of teeth with elevated levels of MMP-8 regardless of the cause (tooth pain, gingivitis, periodontitis) may be at potentially elevated risk for increased/rapid periodontal breakdown in population with occlusal overload caused e.g. by bruxism or extensive occlusal interferences. In other words, the pulpal pain does not induce an increase in GCF MMP-8 levels comparable to periodontitis-affected GCF, but it is possible that the slight increase in GCF MMP-8 levels induced by pain does not alone cause tissue destruction, although it may well participate in tissue destruction when associated with other tissue damage promoting factors.

6.2.2 Capsaicin stimulation

In *study III*, capsaicin stimulation of the alveolar mucosa evoked significant GCF MMP-8 elevations and activations of the ipsilateral incisors of the anterior maxilla. No significant increases could be detected in MMP-8 levels in GCF contralaterally to the capsaicin stimulation. These results indicate that chemical irritation of the gingiva by capsaicin can provoke a local neurogenic inflammation with enhanced proteolytic potential in the closely adjacent gingival tissues, which reaction does not cross the midline in the anterior of the maxilla. Since capsaicin provoked matrix degrading enzymes in GCF, the study shows further evidence for a functional link between neurogenic inflammation and periodontal tissue destruction in humans.

Similarly to capsaicin-induced neurogenic vasodilatation in gingiva in *study I*, the capsaicinevoked response in GCF of MMP-8 did not cross the midline of the anterior maxilla. It is likely that the capsaicin-evoked GCF MMP-8 elevation is based on an axon-reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammatory reaction in human gingivomucosal tissues. According to these results it is also possible that, similarly to the experimentally induced neurogenic inflammation, clinical gingival inflammatory reactions elicited by bacterial toxins and metabolites do not spread from one side to the other of the anterior maxilla.

6.3 PAINFUL TOOTH STIMULATION-INDUCED RELEASE OF SP AND MMP-8 IN GCF (*IV*)

In *study IV*, high-intensity stimulation of the upper right incisor induced a local elevation in the GCF SP and MMP-8 levels of the stimulated tooth. In contrast to this, the GCF SP and MMP-8 levels of the ipsilateral lower incisor remained unchanged. This study is the first to report that painful stimulation of a tooth provokes significant elevations in GCF in both MMP-8 and SP levels of the stimulated tooth. These results indicate that painful tooth stimulation can induce local neurogenic inflammatory responses with enhanced proteolytic or tissue-modulating potential in the very adjacent gingival tissues, and that pulpal pain can contribute to the local regulation of SP and MMP-8 levels in GCF.

Animal studies have shown the existence of branched nerves innervating both intrapulpal and periodontal tissues (Foster & Robinson 1994). Branches of sensory nerves can innervate both adjacent pulps and surrounding periodontal tissues. On that account, when the branch that innervates the pulp is stimulated, the entire neurone depolarises, including branches innervating adjacent teeth and adjacent periodontal tissues. A noxious stimulus leads to rapid action potentials in nociceptive fibres that propagate not only to the central nervous system but also antidromically into peripheral

branches. According to this, the present data support the possibility of a local neurogenic spread of inflammation from intrapulpal to surrounding periodontal tissues. Moreover, this pulp-based neurogenic process may predispose such sites to the progression of periodontal destruction (Sorsa *et al.* 2004). Alternatively, depending on the role of MMP-8 due to its ability to modulate anti-inflammatory cytokines and chemokines, this reaction may also be, at least in part, anti-inflammatory or defensive (Owen *et al.* 2004; Gueders *et al.* 2005).

Pulpal pain and inflammation lead to an increase in intrapulpal pressure (Byers & Närhi 1999). It is possible that an increase in the rate of fluid flow out of the root canal system, carrying with it released neuropeptides and MMP-8, could explain the increased levels of SP and MMP-8 found in the GCF of stimulated teeth. There are direct communication channels between the pulp cavity and the periodontal ligament by way of apical foramina, accessory lateral and furcation canals and dentinal tubules (Seltzer 1984; Trowbridge *et al.* 1998). In our study, none of the teeth sampled had gingival recession and it is therefore unlikely that SP and MMP-8 were carried into the gingival crevice from the pulp in dentinal fluid. Markers have been shown to migrate from the pulp to all areas of the periodontal ligament, including the marginal gingiva (Walton & Langeland 1978). However, although it is possible that neuropeptides in GCF could originate from the dental pulp, the long diffusion pathway that lowers concentrations by several orders of magnitude (Ghazi *et al.* 2000) would tend to argue against this hypothesis (Awawdeh *et al.* 2002).

6.4 THE CHARACTERISTICS OF SP AND MMP-8 IN TOOTH STIMULATION ANALYSED FROM GCF (*IV*)

This cross-sectional *study IV* demonstrated the significantly elevated SP and MMP-8 levels in GCF from painful teeth compared to GCF from non-painful teeth. These findings indicate that experimental pulpal pain can produce local elevations in GCF levels of pro-inflammatory neuropeptide SP and a potent host-tissue destructive or defensive protease, MMP-8.

Clinical studies have shown that SP (Awawdeh *et al.* 2002b) and MMP-8 (Wahlgren *et al.* 2002) are more abundant in pulp tissues from painful compared to healthy human teeth. Moreover, tooth pain in symptomatic pulpitis (Awawdeh *et al.* 2002a) or caused by orthodontic tooth movement (Apajalahti *et al.* 2003; Giannopoulou *et al.* 2006) is associated with elevated GCF MMP-8 and SP levels of these teeth. These clinical findings indicate that painful teeth may be allied with elevated levels of pro/anti-inflammatory SP and MMP-8 both in pulp tissue and in adjacent GCF. Now when an association between MMP-8 and SP levels can be established, the neuropeptides and MMPs in GCF might potentially be utilised as an indirect non-invasive diagnostic method of assessing pulpal status.

There is accumulating evidence that the nervous system can modulate inflammation in inflammatory diseases (Lowman *et al.* 1988; Naukkarinen *et al.* 1993; Scott *et al.* 1994). Mast cells are commonly found in close association with peripheral nerves (Scott *et al.* 1994) that may secrete neuropeptides (SP, VIP), which can trigger degranulation of the mast cells (Bunker *et al.* 1991; Scott *et al.* 1994). The previous finding by Næsse *et al.* (2003) postulates that mast cells in the gingival infiltrate can express MMP-8. Thus it is tempting to speculate that pulpal pain firstly evoked GCF SP release from the nerve terminals, which possibly triggered the consequent GCF MMP-8 elevations from mast cells and/or other inflammatory/immune cells.

GCF can be collected by several techniques: with filter paper strips, micropipette tubes using gingival washing and capillary tubing. Before we started the data collection in *study IV*, we performed a pilot study with seventeen volunteers (unpublished data) in order to find the most adequate method of collecting both MMP-8 and substance P. In this pilot study the GCF was collected in different ways, i.e. using the microdialysis method. Microdialysis permits collection of inflammatory mediators in awake dental pain patients who can simultaneously provide verbal pain reports (Hargreaves & Costello 1990). We used micropipette tubes based on capillary tubing and Ringer's solution as a vehicle to carry MMPs and neuropeptides to the eppendorf tube. However, in terms of sensitivity, this method was less than satisfactory for us to detect both neuropeptides and MMPs. Finally we decided to concentrate on harvesting GCF by filter paper strips, which is the most commonly used method for GCF collection.

The fact that teeth which are not in occlusion have lower neuropeptide levels than teeth in occlusion (Kvinnsland & Heyeraas 1992; Byers & Närhi 1999) supports the hypothesis that neuropeptides may have a role in the pathophysiology of periodontal destruction in painful teeth with occlusal interferences and in bruxism. Moreover, these findings may also be the first step in studying these pulp-based neurogenic processes in the future in population suffering from periodontal problems simultaneously with bruxism, occlusal interferences and non-physiological strong masticatory forces.

7 CONCLUSIONS

1. Capsaicin produces an axon-reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammatory reaction in human gingivomucosal tissues that does not cross the midline of the anterior maxilla. The enhancement of this reaction during mucosal stimulation suggests that alveolar mucosa has a higher susceptibility than attached gingiva to inflammatory effects induced by chemical irritants in the oral cavity. The more extended vasoactive changes in contralateral gingivomucosal tissues during different stimuli are most likely based on a pain-evoked, possibly parasympathetic, vasoactive reflex mechanism.

2. Painful tooth stimulation can induce local inflammatory responses with enhanced proteolytic potential in the very adjacent gingival tissues. Pulpal pain can contribute to the local regulation of MMP-8 levels in GCF. Pulpal stimulation-evoked increase in the GCF MMP-8 levels of the stimulated tooth could result from a local neurogenic, possibly axon-reflex-mediated, pro- or anti-inflammatory mechanism.

3. Chemical irritation of gingivomucosal tissues by capsaicin produces local elevation of the levels of a potent host-tissue destructive protease, MMP-8, in GCF of the neighbouring teeth. Similarly to the capsaicin-induced neurogenic vasodilatation in gingiva, the capsaicin-evoked response in GCF of MMP-8 does not cross the midline of the anterior maxilla. It is likely that capsaicin-evoked GCF MMP-8 elevation is based on an axon-reflex-mediated neurogenic inflammatory reaction in human gingivomucosal tissues. It is possible that, similarly to the experimentally induced neurogenic inflammation, clinical gingival inflammatory reactions elicited by bacterial toxins and metabolites do not spread from one side of the anterior maxilla to the other.

4. Experimental pulpal pain can produce local elevations in GCF levels of MMP-8 and substance P, the transmitter in evoking neurogenic inflammation. Analysis of these data supports the possibility of a local neurogenic spread of inflammation from intrapulpal to surrounding periodontal tissues. Neurogenic inflammatory response, on the other hand, may also be important for starting tissue protecting anti-inflammatory reactions. Thus, the pulp-based neurogenic process may predispose such sites to the progression of periodontal destruction and/or represent defence against gingival inflammation.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Institute of Dentistry, Department of Stomatognathic Physiology, University of Turku, and at the Cell Biology of Oral Diseases Section of the Institute of Dentistry, Biomedicum Research Laboratory, University of Helsinki, during the years 2002-2007.

I wish to thank all those who have contributed to the study:

Professor Pekka Vallittu, DDS, PhD, the Dean of the Institute of Dentistry, University of Turku.

Professor Jarkko Hietanen, MD, DDS, PhD, the present Dean of the Institute of Dentistry and Professor Jukka H. Meurman, MD, DDS, PhD, the former Dean of the Institute of Dentistry, University of Helsinki, for providing the research facilities.

Professor Pentti Kemppainen, DDS, PhD, as my supervisor and introducer to the scientific research in the field of neuroscience. I wish to thank him for his inspiring enthusiasm and encouragement, and for yet allowing me just the right amount of responsibility and independence. I am sincerely grateful to him for being my supervisor with extensive knowledge, impressive logical thinking and innovative ideas.

Professor Timo Sorsa, DDS, PhD, Dipl Perio, who as my supervisor introduced me to the world of MMPs. From the beginning I have admired his devotion to science and his ability to absorb and combine information from various areas in research. I also greatly respect his humanism. I am deeply grateful for his never-failing optimism and support.

My collaborator, Docent Taina Tervahartiala, DDS, PhD, for excellent comments and advice, especially on issues dealing with laboratory work and computers! My warmest thanks for all the inspiring and expert guidance.

I would like to express my deepest thanks to my collaborator, Professor Clemens Forster, Department of Physiology and Experimental Pathophysiology, University of Nürnberg, Erlangen, Germany, especially for his statistical expertise.

The brave dental students, researchers and friends who participated in our studies, your co-operation made this thesis possible.

The official reviewers, Professor Antti Pertovaara, MD, PhD and Professor Tuomas Waltimo, DDS, PhD, for their valuable advice and constructive criticism in the improvement of the manuscript.

Anna Vuolteenaho, MA, for skilful revision of the language.

The entire research group and MMP family for happy moments in the lab and in general; Satu Apajalahti, DDS, PhD, Pia Heikkilä, DDS, PhD, Anne Järvensivu, DDS, Heidi Kuula, DDS, Niko Lehtonen, DDS, Liisa Mellanen DDS, PhD, Professor Timo Närhi, DDS, PhD, Emma Pirilä, PhD, Docent Olli Teronen, DDS, PhD, Docent Leo Tjäderhane, DDS, PhD, Professor Tuula Salo, DDS, PhD, Pirjo Savolainen, DDS, Mathias Stenman, DDS, Juho Suojanen, DDS, and Jaana Hagström, DDS, PhD. Collaborators and co-authors Päivi Mäntylä, DDS, PhD and Pekka Vilppola, DDS, for their contribution in this work.

Kirsti Kari, MSc, Head of the Scientific Laboratory of the University of Dentistry and the laboratory staff including Jukka Inkeri, Marjatta Kivekäs, Ritva Keva and Pirjo Nurmi for all their help during these years.

My best friend Johanna Vainio, MA, for illustrations and for styling me and this work. Thank you for sharing four decades with me.

All my colleagues at Eteläesplanadin Hammaslääkäriasema

My colleagues Heli Hirvikangas, Tiina Kuittinen and Leena Rihtniemi for creating such a fun and inspiring atmosphere at our workplace. It has been a memorable experience to share the joys and pitfalls of work and especially life in general with such jolly people.

My friends for supporting me throughout my life. My loving thanks go especially to Hannele, Mari, Monna and Päivi.

My super parents Marja-Liisa and Pehr-Ole Avellán for their love and help during all these years. Thank you for loving me and having faith in me! You have always been there to share moments of success as well as disappointment. Thank you for taking good care of our son and us. My sincere thanks are extended to my brother Mikael, Sean and Theo Avellán and Jeanette Romano-Avellán for their friendship, enormous hospitality and loving support. I can never thank Hilve and Väinö Jormalainen enough for helping me in so many ways. Last I want to thank the most important men in my life: my husband Timo and our dear son Jean-Mikael for your love, endless patience and sacrifice during my studies. I love you darlings!

This study was financially supported by the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, the Emil Aaltonen Foundation, the Finnish Cultural Foundation, the Finnish Dental Society Apollonia, the Finnish Female Dentist's Association, the Helsinki University Research Funds, the K. Albin Johansson foundation, Liv och Hälsa, the Maud Kuistila Memorial Foundation, the National Graduate School of Clinical Investigation (CLIGS) and the "Timo Jormalainen Research Funds".

Espoo, July 2007

Minah Helle

Nina-Li Avellán

REFERENCES

Abe M, Kawamoto K, Okamoto H, Horiuchi N (2001). Induction of collagenase-2 (matrix metalloproteinase-8) gene expression by interleukin-1beta in human gingival fibroblasts. J Periodontal Res 36: 153-159.

Agarwal D, Goodison S, Nicholson B, Tarin D, Urquidi V (2003). Expression of matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) and tyrosinase-related protein-1 (TYRP-1) correlates with the absence of metastasis in an isogenic human breast cancer model. Differentiation 71: 114-125.

Ahlberg KF (1978). Dose-dependent inhibition of sensory nerve activity in the feline dental pulp by antiinflammatory drugs. Acta Physiol Scand 102: 434-440.

Akai M, Wakisaka S (1990). The distribution of peptidergic nerves. In: Inoki R, Kudo T, Olgart LM (eds). Dynamic aspects of dental pulp. London: Chapman & Hall, pp. 337-348.

Alexander MB, Damoulis PD (1994). The role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of periodontal disease. Curr Op Periodontol 39-53.

Algestren P, Appelgren A, Appelgren B, Kopp S, Lundberg T, Theodorsson E (1995). Co-variation of neuropeptide Y, calcitonin gene-related peptide, substance P and neurokinin A in joint fluid from patients with temporomandibular joint arthritis. Arch Oral Biol 40: 127-135.

Anderson DJ, Hannam AG, Matthews B (1970). Sensory mechanisms in mammalian teeth and their supporting structures. Physiol Rev 50: 171-195.

Andersson GR, Anderson C, Grundström N, Lindgren RB (1988). Neurogenic inflammation. Acta Derm-Vener 68, suppl. 135: 35-38.

Anderson KV, Rosing HS, Pearl GS (1977). Physiological and anatomical studies revealing an extensive transmedian innervation of feline canine teeth. In: Pain in trigeminal region. Anderson DJ, Matthews B (eds). Amsterdam: Elsevier/North-Holland, pp. 149-160.

Andersson SA, Ericson T, Holmgren E, Lindquist G (1973). Electroacupuncture effect of pain threshold measured with electrical stimulation of teeth. Brain Res 63: 393-396.

Apajalahti S, Sorsa T, Railavo S, Ingman T (2003). The *in vivo* levels of matrix metalloproteinase-1 and -8 in gingival crevicular fluid during initial orthodontic tooth movement. J Dent Res 82: 1018–1022.

Araújo MG, Lindhe J (2005). Dimensional ridge alterations following tooth extraction. An experimental study in the dog. J Clin Periodontol 32: 212-218.

Arvidsson J, Gobel S (1981). An HPR study of the central projections of primary trigeminal neurons which innervate tooth pulps in the cat. Brain Res 210: 1-16.

Avery JK (1979). Mechanisms of reparative dentin formation and pain. In: Mechanisms and control of pain, LI Grossman LI (ed). New York: Masson pp. 43-65.

Awawdeh LA, Lundy FT, Linden GJ, Shaw C, Kennedy JG, Lamey PJ (2002a). Quantitative analysis of substance P, neurokinin A and calcitonin gene-related peptide in gingival crevicular fluid associated with painful human teeth. Eur J Oral Sci 110: 185–191.

Awawdeh L, Lundy FT, Shaw C, Lamey PJ, Linden GJ, Kennedy JG (2002b). Quantitative analysis of substance P, neurokinin A and calcitonin gene-related peptide in pulp tissue from painful and healthy human teeth. Int Endod J 35: 30–36.

Baab DA, Öberg PA, Holloway GA (1986). Gingival blood flow measured with a laser Doppler flowmeter. J Periodontal Res 21: 73-85.

Baab DA, Öberg A, Lundström A (1990). Gingiva blood flow and temperature changes in young humans with a history of periodontitis. Arch Oral Biol 35: 95-101.

Baker AH, Edwards DR, Murphy G (2002). Metalloproteinase inhibitors: biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. J Cell Sci 115: 3719-3727.

Balbin M, Fueyo A, Knauper V, Pendas AM, Lopez JM, Jimenez MG, Murphy G, Lopez-Otin C (1998). Collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression in murine tissue-remodeling processes: analysis of its potential role in postpartum involution of the uterus. J Biol Chem 273: 23959-23968.

Balbin M, Fueyo A, Tester AM, Pendas AM, Pitiot AS, Astudillo A, Overall CM, Shapiro SD, Lopez-Otin C (2003). Loss of collagenase-2 confers increased skin tumour susceptibility to male mice. Nat Genet 35: 252–257.

Bannikov GA, Karelina TV, Collier IE, Marmer BL, Goldberg GI (2002). Substrate binding of gelatinase B induces its enzymatic activity in the presence of intact propeptide. J Biol Chem 277: 16022-16027.

Bantick SJ, Wise RG, Ploghaus A, Clare S, Smith SM, Tracey I (2002). Imaging how attention modulates pain in humans using functional MRI. Brain 125: 310-319.

Bar-shavit Z, Goldman R, Stabinsky Y, Gottlieb P, Fridkin M, Teichberg VI, Blumberg S (1980). Enhancement of phagocytosis-a newly found activity of substance P residing in its N-terminal tetrapeptide sequence. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 94: 1445-1451.

Bartold P, Kylstra A, Lawson R (1994). Substance P: an immunohistochemical and biochemical study in human gingival tissues. A role for neurogenic inflammation. J Periodontol 65: 1113-1121.

Bear M, Connors B, Paradiso M (2001). Neuroscience: exploring the brain, 2nd ed. Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, USA pp. 421-432.

Bendtsen L, Jensen R, Hindberg I, Gammeltoft S, Olesen J (1997). Serotonin metabolism in chronic tensiontype headache. Cephalgia 17: 843-848.

Bernstein JE (1988). Capsaicin in dermatologic disease. Semin Dermatol 7: 304-309.

Berkovitz BKB, Holland GR, Moxham BJ (1978). A colour atlas & textbook of oral anatomy. London, Wolfe medical publications Ltd. pp. 79-105.

Birkedal-Hansen H (1993). Role of cytokines and inflammatory mediators in tissue destruction. J Periodontal Res 28: 500-510.

Birkedal-Hansen H (1995). Proteolytic remodellation of extracellular matrix. Curr Op Cell Biol 7: 728-735.

Blaser J, Knauper V, Osthues A, Reinke H, Tschesche H (1991). Mercurial activation of human polymorphonuclear leukocyte procollagenase. Eur J Biochem 202: 1223.

Brain SD (1977). Sensory neuropeptides: Their role in inflammation and wound healing. Immunopharmacology 37: 133-152.

Brayden JE (1987). Atropine potentiates neurogenic vasodilatation of the feline infraorbital artery: possible mechanisms. Neurosci Lett 78: 343-348.

Bruce AN (1913). Vaso-dilator axon-reflexes. Q J Exp Physiol 6: 339-354.

Bunker CB, Cerio R, Bull HA, Evans J, Dowd PM, Foreman JC (1991). The effects of capsaicin application on mast cells in normal human skin. Agents Actions 33: 195-196.

Byers MR, Matthews B (1981). Autoradiographic demonstration of ipsilateral and contralateral sensory nerve endings in cat dentin, pulp, and periodontium. Anat Rec 201: 249–260.

Byers MR (1984). Dental sensory receptors. Int Rev Neurobiol 25: 39-94.

Byers MR, Mecifi KB, Kimberly CL (1987). Numerous nerves with calcitonin gene-related peptide-like immunoreactivity innervate junctional epithelium of rats. Brain Res 419: 311-314.

Byers MR (1992). Effects of inflammation on dental sensory nerves and vice versa. Proc Finn Dent Soc 88(suppl 1): 499-506.

Byers MR, Närhi MV (1999). Dental injury models: experimental tools for understanding neuroinflammatory interactions and polymodal nociceptor functions. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 10: 4–39.

Byers MR, Närhi MV (2002). Nerve supply of the pulpodentin complex and responses to injury. In book: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE (eds). Selzer and Benders Dental pulp, Quintessence Publishing Co, Inc. USA, pp. 151-179.

Caterina MJ, Schumacher MA, Tominaga M, Rosen TA, Levine JD, Julius D (1977). The capsaicin receptor: a heat-activated ion channel in the pain pathway. Nature 389: 816-824.

Chahl LA (1988). Antidromic vasodilatation and neurogenic inflammation. Pharmacol Ther 37: 275-300.

Chakraborti S, Mandal M, Das S, Mandal A, Chakraborti T (2003). Regulation of matrix metalloproteinases: An overview. Mol Cell Biochem 253: 269-285.

Chen HY, Cox SW, Eley BM (1998). Cathepsin B α 2-macroglobulin and cystatin levels in gingival crevicular fluid from chronic periodontitis patients. J Clin Periodontol 25: 34-41.

Cimasoni G (1983). Crevicular fluid updated. Monogr Oral Sci 12: 45-102.

Coussens LM, Fingleton B (2002). Matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors and cancer: trials and tribulations. Science 295: 2387-2392.

Cox SW, Eley BM, Kiili M, Asikainen A, Tervahartiala T, Sorsa T (2006). Collagen degradation by interleukin-1β-stimulated gingival fibroblasts is accompanied by release and activation of multiple matrix metalloproteinases and cysteine proteinases. Oral Dis 12: 34-40.

Deinzer R, Förster P, Fuck L, Herforth A, Stiller-Winkler R, Idel H (1999). Increase of crevicular interleukin 1beta under academic stress at experimental gingivitis sites and at sites of perfect oral hygiene. J Clin Periodontol 26: 1–8.

Dellow PG, Morgan MJ (1969). Trigeminal nerve inputs and central blood pressure change in the cat. Arch Oral Biol 14: 295-300.

Dewhirst FE, Stashenko PP, Mole JE, Tsurumachi T (1985). Purification and partial sequence of human osteoclast-activating factor: identity with interleukin 1β. J Immunol 135: 2562-2568.

Dickenson AH (1989). Pain transmission and analgesia. In book: Neurotransmitters, drugs and disease, Blackwell scientific publication, Oxford.

Ding Y, Uitto V-J, Haapasalo M, Lounatmaa K, Konttinen YT, Salo T, Grenier D, Sorsa T (1996). Membrane components of treponema denticola trigger proteinase release from human polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J Dent Res 75: 1986–1993.

Ding Y, Haapasalo M, Kerosuo E, Lounatmaa K, Kotiranta A, Sorsa T (1997). Release and activation of human neutrophil matrix metallo- and serine proteinases during phagocytosis of Fusobacterium nucleatum, Porphyromonas gingivalis and Treponema denticola. J Clin Periodontol 24: 237–248.

Dionne RA, Kim H, Gordon SM (2006). Acute and chronic dental and orofacial pain. In book: McMahon SB, Koltzenburg M (eds). Wall and Melzack's Textbook of pain, Longman group UK limited, pp. 819-835.

Drummond PD (1995). Lacrimation and cutaneous vasodilatation in the face induced by painful stimulation of the nasal and upper lip. J Autonom Nerv Syst 51: 109-116.

Edvinsson L, Goadsby PJ (1988). Neuropeptides in headache. Eur J Neurol 5: 329-341.

Euler US, Gaddum JH (1931). An unidentified depressive substance in certain tissue extracts. J Physiol 232: 86-87.

Evers H, Haegerstam G (1981). Handbook of dental local anaesthesia. Schulz medical information, Denmark pp. 80-81.

Fazekas A, Vindisch K, Posch E, Györfi A (1990). Experimentally-induced neurogenic inflammation in the rat oral mucosa. J Periodontal Res 25: 276–282.

Fedarko NS, Jain A, Karadag A, Fisher LW (2004). Three small integrin-binding ligand N-linked glycoproteins (SIBLINGs) bind and activate specific matrix metalloproteinases. FASEB J (electronic publication).

Fischer J, Forssman WG, Hökfelt T, Lundberg JM, Reinecke M (1985). Immunoreactive calcitonin generelated peptide and substance P: co-existence in sensory neurones and behavioural interaction after intrathecal administration in the rat. J Physiol 362: 29-38.

Foster E, Robinson PP (1994). A study of branched pulpal axons in ferrets with supplemental teeth. Arch Oral Biol 39: 1003–1005.

Folgueras AR, Pendas AM, Sanchez LM, Lopez-Otin C (2004). Matrix metalloproteinases in cancer: from new functions to improved inhibition strategies. Int J Dew Biol 48: 411-424.

Fouad AF (2002). Molecular mediators of pulpal inflammation. In book: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE (eds). Selzer and Bender's Dental pulp, Quintessence Publishing Co, Inc. USA, pp. 247-279.

Fried K, Aldskogius H, Hildebrand C (1988). Proportion of unmyelinated axons in rat molar and incisor tooth pulps following neonatal capsaicin treatment and/or sympathectomy. Brain Res 463: 118-123.

Fujishima H, Takeyama M, Takeuchi T, Saito I, Tsubota K (1997). Elevated levels of substance P in tears of patients with allergic conjunctivitis and vernal keratokonjunctivitis. Clin Exp Allergy 27: 372-378.

Fuller PM, Wilson S, Winfrey JA (1979). A lack of peripheral transmedian innervation of feline mandibular canine teeth as determined by horseradish peroxidase. Brain Res 179: 362–366.

Gamse R, Holzer P, Lembeck F (1980). Decrease of substance P in primary sensory neurones and impairment of neurogenic plasma extravasation by capsaicin. Br J Pharmac 68: 207-213.

Gemmell E, Marshall RI, Seymour GJ (1997). Cytokines and prostaglandins in immune homeostasis and tissue destruction in periodontal disease. Periodontol 2000 14: 112-143.

Gendron R, Grenier D, Sorsa T, Maynard D (1999). Inhibition of the activities of matrix metalloproteinase-2, -8, and -9 by chlorhexidine. Clin Diagn Lab Immunol 6: 437-439.

Ghazi AM, Shuttleworth S, Angulo SJ, Pashley DH (2000). Gallium diffusion in human root dentin: Quantitative measurements by pulsed Nd: YAG laser ablation combined with an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer. J Clin Laser Med Surg 18: 173-183.

Giannopoulou C, Dudic A, Kiliaridis S (2006). Pain discomfort and crevicular fluid changes induced by orthodontic elastic separators in children. J Pain 7: 367-376.

Goadsby PJ (1997). Current concepts of the pathophysiology of migraine. Neurol Clin North Am 15: 27-41.

Golub LM, McNamara TF, D'Angelo G, Greenwald RA, Ramamurthy NS (1987). A non-antimicrobial chemically-modified tetracycline inhibits mammalian collagenase activity. J Dent Res 66: 1310-1314.

Golub LM, Wolff M, Roberts S, Lee HM, Leung M, Payonk GS (1994). Treating periodontal diseases by blocking tissue-destructive enzymes. J Am Dent Assoc 125: 163-171.

Golub LM, Lee H-M, Ryan ME, Giannobile W, Payne J, Sorsa T (1998). Tetracyclines inhibit connective tissue breakdown by multiple non-antimicrobial mechanisms. Adv Dent Res 12: 12-26.

Green BG, Flammer LJ (1988). Capsaicin as a cutaneous stimulus: sensitivity and sensory qualities on hairy skin. Chem Sens 13: 367-384.

Gross J, Nagai Y (1965). Specific degradation of the collagen molecule by tadpole collagenolytic enzyme. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 54: 1197.

Gueders MM, Balbin M, Rocks N, Foidart JM, Gosset P, Louis R, Shapiro S, Lopez-Otin C, Noël A, Cataldo DD (2005). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 deficiency promotes granulocytic allergen-induced airway inflammation. J Immunol 175: 2589-97.

Guyton AC, Hall JE (1996). Textbook of medical physiology. N.B. Saunders, Philadelphia 1996.

Györfi A, Fazekas A, Feher E, Ender F, Rosivall L (1996). Effects of streptozotocin-induced diabetes on neurogenic inflammation of gingivomucosal tissue in rat. J Periodontal Res 31: 249–255.

Hanemaaijer R, Sorsa T, Konttinen YT, Ding Y, Sutinen M, Visser H, van Hinsbergh VW, Helaakoski T, Kainulainen T, Rönkä H. Tschesche H, Salo T (1997). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 is expressed in rheumatoid synovial fibroblasts and endothelial cells. Regulation by tumor necrosis factor-alpha and doxycycline. J Biol Chem 272: 31504–31509.

Hanioka T, Takaya K, Matsumori Y, Matsuse R, Shizukuishi S (2000). Relationship of the substance P to indicators of host response in human gingival crevicular fluid. J Clin Periodontol 27: 262-266.

Hargreaves KM, Costello A (1990). Glucocorticoids suppress release of immunoreactive bradykinin from inflamed tissue as evaluated by microdialysis probes. Clin Pharmacol Ther 48: 167-178.

Hargreaves KM, Swift JQ, Roszkowski MT, Bowles W, Garry MG, Jackson DL (1994). Pharmacology of peripheral neuropeptide and inflammatory mediator release. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol 78: 503-510.

Hargreaves KM (2002). Pain mechanisms of the pulpodentin complex. In book: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE (eds). Selzer and Bender's Dental pulp, Quintessence Publishing Co, Inc. USA, pp. 181-203.

Hartung H-P, Wolters K, Toyka KV (1986). Substance P: binding properties and studies on cellular responses in guinea-pig macrophages. J Immunol 136: 3856-3863.

Hasty KA, Hibbs MS, Kang AH, Mainardi CL (1986). Secreted forms of human neutrophil collagenase. J Biol Chem 261: 5645.

Heikkilä P, Teronen O, Moilanen M, Konttinen YT, Hanemaaijer R, Laitinen M, Maisi P, Van der Plujim G, Bartlett JD, Salo T, Sorsa T (2002). Biphosphonates inhibit stromelysin-1 (MMP-3), matrix metalloelastase (MMP-12), collagenase-3 (MMP-13) and enamelysin (MMP-20), but not urokinase-type plasminogen activator, and diminish invasion and migration of human malignant and endothelial cell lines. Anticancer Drugs 13: 245-254.

Heikkilä P, Suojanen J, Pirilä E, Väänänen A, Koivunen E, Sorsa T, Salo T (2006). Human tongue carcinoma growth is inhibited by selective antigelatinolytic peptides. Int J Cancer 118: 2202-2209.

Helme RD, Andrews PV (1985). The effect of nerve lesions on the inflammatory response to injury. J Neurosci Res 13: 453-459.

Hemmilä I, Dakubu S, Mukkala VM, Siitari H, Lövgren T (1984). Europium as a label in time-resolved immunofluorometric assays. Anal Biochem 137: 335-343.

Hidalgo M, Eckhardt SG (2001). Development of matrix metalloproteinase inhibitors in cancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 93: 178-193.

Holland GR, Robinson PP (1983). The number and size of axons at the apex of the cat's canine tooth. Anat Rec 205: 215-222.

Holzer P (1988). Local effector functions of capsaicin-sensitive sensory nerve endings: involvement of tachykinins, calcitonin gene-related peptide and other neuropeptides. Neuroscience 24: 739–768.

Hu JW, Dostrovsky JO, Sessle BJ (1981). Functional properties of neurons on subnucleus caudalis of the cat. I. Responses to oro-facial noxious and non-noxious stimuli and projections to thalamus and subnucleus oralis. J Neurophysiol 45: 173-192.

Huskisson E (1974). Measurement of pain. Lancet 2 pp. 1127-1131.

Ingman T, Tervahartiala T, Ding Y, Tschesche H, Haerian A, Kinane DF, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T (1996). Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in gingival crevicular fluid and saliva of periodontitis patients. J Clin Periodontol 23: 1127-1132.

Izumi H, Karita K (1992). Selective excitation of parasympathetic nerve fibers to elicit the vasodilatation in cat lip. J Auton Nerv Syst 37: 99-108.

Janhunen M-P, Närhi MVO (1977). Effect of electroacupuncture on the pain perception threshold of human teeth. Proc Finn Dent Soc 73: 216-219.

Jancsó N, Jancsó-Gábor A, Szolcsányi J (1967). Direct evidence for neurogenic inflammation and its prevention by denervation and by pretreatment with capsaicin. Br J Pharmac 31: 138-151.

Jancsó N, Jancsó-Gábor A, Szolcsányi J (1968). The role of sensory nerve endings in neurogenic inflammation induced in human skin and in the eye and paw of the rat. Br J Pharmac 32: 32-41.

Jancsó G, Kirally E, Jancsó-Gábor A (1980). Chemosensitive pain fibres and inflammation. Int J Tiss React 2: 57-66.

Jancsó G, Király E, Such G, Joó F, Nagy A (1987). Neurotoxic effect of capsaicin in mammals. Acta Physiol Hung 69: 295-313.

Jantsch HHF, Kemppainen P, Ringler R, Handwerker HO, Forster C (2005). Cortical representation of experimental tooth pain in humans. Pain 118: 390-399.

Julkunen I, Silvennoinen O, Hurme M (2003). Sytokiinit, niiden toiminta ja kliininen merkitys. In book: Huovinen P, Meri S, Peltola H, Vaara M, Vaheri A, Valtonen V (eds). Mikrobiologia ja infektiosairaudet, kirja 1. Kustannus Oy Duodecim. Gummerus Kirjapaino Oy. Jyväskylä, pp. 734-747.

Jyväsjärvi E, Kniffki KD (1986). Cold stimulation of teeth: a comparison between the responses of cat intradental A-delta and C fibres and human sensation. J Physiol 391: 193-207.

Kaji A, Shigematsu H, Fujita K, Maeda T, Watanabe S (1988). Parasympathetic innervation of cutaneous blood vessels by vasoactive intestinal polypeptide-immunoreactivity and acetylcholinesterase-positive nerves: histochemical and experimental study on rat lower lip. Neuroscience 25: 353-362.

Kalso E, Vainio A (2004). Kroonisia kiputiloja. In book: Kalso E and Vainio A (eds). Kipu, Kustannus Oy Duodecim, Finland, pp. 271-273.

Kemppainen P, Pertovaara A, Huopaniemi T, Johansson G, Karonen SL (1985). Modification of dental pain and cutaneous thermal sensitivity by physical exercise in man. Brain Res 360: 33–40.

Kemppainen P, Leppänen H, Jyväsjärvi E, Pertovaara A (1994). Blood flow increase in the orofacial area of humans induced by painful stimulation. Brain Res Bull 23: 655-662.

Kemppainen P, Forster C, Handwerker HO (2001a). The importance of stimulus site and intensity in differences of pain-induced vascular reflexes in human orofacial regions. Pain 91: 331–338.

Kemppainen P, Forster C, Koppert W, Handwerker HO (2001b). Blood flow increase in the human lip after high-intensity tooth stimulation is not based on cholinergic mechanisms. Neurosci Lett 23: 109–111.

Kenins P (1981). Identification of the unmyelinated sensory nerves which evoke plasma extravasation in response to antidromic stimulation. Neurosci Lett 25: 137-141.

Kiili M, Cox SW, Chen HY, Wahlgren J, Maisi P, Eley BM, Salo T, Sorsa T (2002). Collagenase-2 (MMP-8) and collagenase-3 (MMP-13) in adult periodontitis: molecular forms and levels in gingival crevicular fluid and immunolocalisation in gingival tissue. J Clin Periodontol 29: 224–232.

Kilo S, Schmelz M, Koltzenburg M and Handwerker HO (1995). Different patterns of hyperalgesia induced by experimental inflammation in human skin. Brain 117: 385-396.

Kimberly CL, Byers MR (1988). Inflammation of rat molar pulp and periodontium causes increased calcitonin gene-related peptide and axonal sprouting. Anat Rec 222: 289-300.

Knauper V, Wilhelm SM, Seperack PK, DeClerck YA, Langley KE, Osthues A, Tschesche H (1993). Direct activation of human neutrophil pro-collagenase by recombinant stromelysin. Biochem J 295: 581.

Koivunen E, Arap W, Valtanen H, Rainisalo A, Medina OP, Heikkilä P, Kantor C, Gahmberg CG, Salo T, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T, Ruoslahti E, Pasqualini R (1999). Tumour targeting with a selective gelatinase inhibitor. Nat Biotechnol 17: 768-774.

Kondo T, Kido MA, Kiyoshima T, Yamaza T, Tanaka T (1995). An immunohistochemical and monastral blue-vascular labelling study on the involvement of capsaicin-sensitive sensory innervation of the junctional epithelium in neurogenic plasma extravasation in the rat gingiva. Arch Oral Biol 40: 931–940.

Kramer IR (1960). The vascular architecture of the human dental pulp. Arch Oral Biol 2: 177-189.

Kvinnsland I, Heyeraas KJ (1992). Effect of traumatic occlusion on CGRP and SP immunoreactive nerve fibre morphology in rat molar pulp and periodontium. Histochemistry and Cell Biology 97: 111-120.

Lee W, Aitken S, Sodek J, McCulloch CA (1995). Evidence of a direct relationship between neutrophil collagenase activity and periodontal tissue destruction in vivo: role of active enzyme in human periodontitis. J Periodontal Res 30: 23-33. Lembeck, F (1953). 5-Hydroxytryptamine in a carcinoid tumor. Nature 172: 910-911.

Lembeck F, Holzer P (1979). Substance P as a neurogenic mediator of antidromic vasodilatation and neurogenic plasma extravasation. Arch Pharmacol 310: 175-183.

Lewis T (1937). The nocifensor system of nerves and its reaction. Br Med J 194: 43-435.

Linden GJ, McKinnell J, Shaw C, Lundy FT (1997). Substance P and neurokinin A in gingival crevicular fluid in periodontal health and disease. J Clin Periodontol 24: 799-803.

Listgarten MA (1987). Nature of periodontal diseases: pathogenic mechanisms. J Periodontal Res 22: 172–178.

Lotz M, Vaughan JH, Carson DA (1988). Effects of neuropeptides on production of inflammatory cytokines by human monocytes. Science 241: 1218-1221.

Lowman MA, Benyon RC, Church MK (1988). Characterization of neuropeptide-induced histamine release from human dispersed skin mast cells. Br J Pharmacol 95: 121-130.

Lundberg JM (1981). Evidence for coexistence of vasoactive intestinal peptide (VIP) and acetylcholine in neurons of cat exocrine glands. Morphological, biochemical and functional studies. Acta Physiol Scand 496: 1-57.

Lundberg JM, Anggard A, Fahrenkrug J (1982). VIP as a mediator of hexamethonium-sensitive, atropine-resistant vasodilatation in the cat tongue. Acta Physiol Scand 116: 387-392.

Lundberg JM, Franco-Cereceda A, Hua X, Hökfelt T, Fischer JA (1985). Co-existence of substance P and calcitonin gene-related peptide-like immunoreactivities in sensory nerves in relation to cardiovascular and bronchoconstrictor effects of capsaicin. Eur J Pharmac 108: 315-319.

Lundberg J, Norgren L, Ribbe E, Rosen E, Steen S, Thörne J, Wallin BG (1989). Direct evidence of active sympathetic vasodilatation in the skin of the human foot. J Physiol (Lond.) 417: 437-446.

Lundy FT, Shaw C, McKinnell J, Lamey P-J, Linden GJ (1999). Calcitonin gene-related peptide in gingival crevicular fluid in periodontal health and disease. J Clin Periodontol 26: 212-216.

Lundy FT, Mullally BH, Burden DJ, Lamey P-J, Shaw C, Linden GJ (2000). Changes in substance P and neurokinin A in gingival crevicular fluid in response to periodontal treatment. J Clin Periodontol 27: 526-530.

Luthman J, Friskopp J, Dahllöf G, Ahlström U, Sjöström L, Johansson O (1989). Immunohistochemical study of neurochemical markers in gingiva obtained from periodontitis-affected sites. J Periodontal Res 24: 267–278.

Maggi C (1995). Tachykinins and calcitonin gene-related peptide (CGRP) as co-transmitters released from pheripheral endings of sensory nerves. Progr Neurobiol 45: 1-98.

Mahan PE, Anderson KV (1970). Activation of pain pathways in animals. Am J Anat 128: 235-238.

Mancini S, Romanelli R, Laschinger CA, Overall CM, Sodek J, McCulloch CA (1999). Assessment of a novel screening test for neutrophil collagenase activity in the diagnosis of the periodontal diseases. J Periodontol 70: 1292-1302.

Mäntylä P, Stenman M, Kinane DF, Tikanoja S, Luoto H, Salo T, Sorsa T (2003). Gingival crevicular fluid collagenase-2 (MMP-8) test stick for chair-side monitoring of periodontitis. J Periodontal Res 38: 436–439.

Mäntylä P, Stenman M, Kinane D, Salo T, Suomalainen K, Tikanoja S, Sorsa T (2006). Monitoring periodontal disease status in smokers and non-smokers using a gingival crevicular fluid matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) specific chair-side test. J Periodontal Res 41: 503-512.

Markowitz S, Saito K, Moskowitz MA (1987). Neurogenically mediated leakage of plasma proteins occurs from blood vessels in dura mater but not brain. J Neurosci 7: 4129-4136.

Martin RW, Chapman CR (1979). Dental dolorimetry for human pain research: Methods and apparatus. Pain 6: 349-364.

Matthews B, Lisney SJW (1978). Do primary afferents from tooth-pulp cross the midline? Brain Res 158: 303-312.

May A, Goadsby PJ (1999). The trigeminal system in humans: Pathophysiologic implications for primary headache syndromes of the neural influences on the cerebral circulation. J Cereb Blood Flow Metab 19: 115-127.

McGregor GP, Bloom SR (1983). Radioimmunoassay of substance P and its stability in tissue. Life Sci 32: 655–662.

Mentis GZ, Lynn B (1992). An investigation into the extent to which flare in human skin crosses the mid-line. Exp Physiol 77: 765–768.

Meri S (2003). Luonnolliset puolustusmekanismit. In book: Huovinen P, Meri S, Peltola H, Vaara M, Vaheri A, Valtonen V (eds). Mikrobiologia ja infektiosairaudet, kirja 1. Kustannus Oy Duodecim. Gummerus Kirjapaino Oy. Jyväskylä, pp. 636-659.

Merskey H (1979). Pain terms: a list with definitions and notes on usage. Recommended by the IASP subcommittee on taxonomy. Pain 6: 249-252.

Moilanen M, Pirilä E, Grénman R, Sorsa T, Salo T (2002). Expression and regulation of collagenase-2 (MMP-8) in head and necks cell carcinomas. J Pathol 197: 72-81.

Moilanen M, Sorsa T, Stenman M, Nyberg P, Lindy O, Vesterinen J, Paju A, Konttinen YT, Stenman UH, Salo T (2003). Tumor-associated trypsinogen-2 (trypsinogen-2) activates procollagenases (MMP-1, -8, -13) and stromelysin-1 (MMP-3) and degrades type I collagen. Biochemistry 42: 5414-5420.

Moskowitz MA (1990). Basic mechanisms in vascular headache. Neurol Clin 8: 801-815.

Moskowitz MA (1992). Neurogenic versus vascular mechanisms of sumatriptan and ergot alkaloids in migraine. TIPS 13: 307-311.

Mumford JM, Bowsher D (1976). Pain and prothopatic sensibility. A review with particular reference to teeth. Pain 2: 223-243.

Murphy GJ, Reynolds J, Bretz U, Baggiolini M (1977). Collagenase is a component of the specific granules of human neutrophil leukocytes. Biochem J 162: 195.

Næsse EP, Scheurs K, Helgeland K, Schenck K, Steinsvoll S (2003). Matrix metalloproteinases and their inhibitors in gingival mast cells in persons with and without human immunodeficiency virus infection. J Periodontal Res 38: 575-582.

Nagase H (1997). Activation mechanisms of matrix metalloproteinases. Biol Chem 378: 151-160.

Nagase H, Visse R, Murphy G (2006). Structure and function of matrix metalloproteinases and TIMPs. Cardiovasc Res 69: 562-573.

Nagata E, Kondo T, Ayasaka N, Nakata M, Tanaka T (1992). Immunohistochemical study of nerve fibres with substance P or calcitonin gene-related peptide-like immunoreactivity in the junctional epithelium of developing rats. Arch Oral Biol 37: 655-662.

Nakamura T, Kido J, Kido R, Ohishi K, Yamauchi N, Kataoka M, Nagata T (2000). The association of calprotectin level in gingival crevicular fluid with gingival index and the activities of collagenase and aminotransferase in adult periodontitis patients. J Periodontol 71: 361-367.

Närhi M, Virtanen T, Huopaniemi T, Hirvonen T (1982). Conduction velocities of single pulp nerve fibre units in the cat. Acta Physiol Scand 116: 209-213.

Närhi, M (1985). The characteristics of intradental sensory units and their responses to stimulation. J Dent Res 64: 564-571.

Närhi M, Jyväsjärvi E, Virtanen A, Huopaniemi T, Ngassapa D (1992). Role of intradental A and C type nerve fibres in dental pain mechanisms. Proc Finn Dent Soc 88 (Suppl. 1), pp. 507-516.

Närhi M, Yamamoto H, Hirvonen T (1996). Function of intradental nociceptors in normal and inflamed teeth. In Shimono M, Maeda T, Suda H, Takahashi K (eds). Proceedings of the International Conference of Dentine/Pulp Complex. Tokyo: Quintessence Publishers, pp. 136-140.

Närhi M (2003). Dentinal and pulpal pain. In Book: Textbook of endodontology. Bergenholz G, Hørsted- Bindslev P, Reit C (eds). Blackwell Munksgaard, pp. 43-56.

Naukkarinen A, Harvima I, Paukkonen K, Aalto ML, Horsmanheimo M (1993). Immunohistochemical analysis of sensory nerves and neuropeptides, and their contacts with mast cells in developing and mature psoriatic lesions 285: 341-346.

Ngan P, Wilson S, Shanfeld J, Amini H (1994). The effect of ibuprofen on the level of discomfort in patients undergoing orthodontic treatment. Am J Orthod Dentofac Orthop 106: 88-95.

Nguyen L, Dewhirst FE, Hauschka PV, Stashenko P (1991). Interleukin-1β stimulates bone resorption and inhibits bone formation in vivo. Lymph Cyt Res 10: 15-21.

Nicoldi M, Delbianco E (1990). Sensory neuropeptides (substance-P, calcitonin gene related peptide) and vasoactive intestinal polypeptide in human saliva – their pattern in migraine and cluster headache. Cephalalgia 10: 39-50.

Nienstedt W, Hänninen O, Arstila A, Björkqvist S-E (2004). Ihmisen fysiologia ja anatomia. WSOY, Finland pp. 64-76.

Nilsson GE, Jakobsson A, Wårdell K (1990). Two-dimensional microvascular blood flow mapping. Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology society 12: 1127-1128.

Nord SG, Rollince DE (1980). Bilateral projection of canine tooth pulps to neurons of the cat sensory trigeminal complex. Exp Neurol 69: 183-195.

Nyberg P, Ylipalosaari M, Sorsa T, Salo T (2006). Trypsin and their role in carcinoma growth. Exp Cell Res 312: 1220-1228.

Okeson JP (1996), ed. Orofacial pain: Guidelines for assessment, diagnosis, and management. Chicago: Quintessence Publishing Co, pp. 1-18.

Okeson JP (2003). Management of temporomandibular disorders and occlusion. Mosby, USA, pp. 29-65.

Olgart L (1996a). Neural control of pulpal blood flow. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 7: 159-171.

Olgart L (1996b). Neurogenic components of pulp inflammation. In Book: Dentine/Pulp Complex. Shimono M, Maeda T, Suda H, Takahashi T (eds). Japan, Quintessence publishing pp. 169-175.

Oliver R, Knapman Y (1985). Attitudes to orthodontic treatment. Br J Orthod 12: 179-188.

Owen CA, Campbell EJ (1999). The cell biology of leukocyte-mediated proteolysis. J Leukoc Biol 65: 137.

Owen CA, Hu Z, Lopez-Otin C, Shapiro SD (2004). Membrane-bound matrix metalloproteinase-8 on activated polymorphonuclear cells is a potent tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-resistant collagenase and serpinase. J Immunol 172: 7791–7803.

Overall CM, Lopez-Otin C (2002). Strategies for MMP inhibition in cancer: innovations for the post-trial era. Nat Rev Cancer 2: 657-672.

Page RC (1991). The role of inflammatory mediators in the pathogenesis of periodontal disease. J Periodontal Res 26: 230-242.

Pashley D (2002). Pulpodentin complex. In book: Hargreaves KM, Goodis HE (eds). Selzer and Bender's Dental pulp, Quintessence Publishing Co, Inc. USA, pp. 63-93.

Payan DG, Levine JD, Goezl EJ (1984). Modulation of immunity and hypersensitivity by sensory neuropeptides. J Immunol 132: 1601-1604.

Payan DG (1989). Neuropeptides and inflammation: the role of substance P. Ann Rev Med 40: 341-352.

Pirilä E, Maisi P, Salo T, Koivunen E, Sorsa T (2001). In vivo localization of gelatinases (MMP-2 and -9) by in situ zymography with a selective gelatinase inhibitor. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 287: 766-774.

Powell D, Leeman SE, Tregear GW, Niall HD, Potts JT (1973). Radioimmunoassay for substance P. Nature New Biol 241: 252.

Prikk K, Maisi P, Pirilä E, Reintam MA, Salo T, Sorsa T, Sepper R (2002). Airway obstruction correlates with collagenase-2 (MMP-8) expression and activation in bronchial asthma. Lab Invest 82: 1535–1545.

Reader A, Foreman DW (1981). An ultrastructural quantitative investigation of human intradental innervation. J Endod 7: 493-499.

Reinhardt RA, Stoner JA, Golub LM, Wolff MS, Lee HM, Meinberg TA, Lynch JC, Ryan ME, Sorsa T, Payne JB (2007). Efficacy of sub-antimicrobial dose doxycycline in post-menopausal women: clinical outcomes. J Clin Periodontol 34: 768-775.

Romanelli R, Mancini S, Laschinger C, Overall CM, Sodek J, McCulloch CA (1999). Activation of neutrophil collagenase in periodontitis. Infect Immun 67: 2319-2326.

Rosenfeld MG, Mermod JJ, Amara SG (1983). Production of a novel neuropeptide encoded by the calcitonin gene via tissuespecific RNA processing. Nature 304: 129-135.

Saag MS, Reid KH (1981). Surgical determination of the site of crossing of jaw-opening reflex evoked by tooth pulp stimulation in the cat. Brain Res 212: 140–144.

Saari H, Suomalainen K, Lindy O, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T (1990). Activation of latent human neutrophil collagenase by reactive oxygen species and serine proteases. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 171: 979-987.

Scott DT, Lam FY, Ferrell WR (1994). Acute joint inflammation—mechanisms and mediators. Gen Pharmacol 25: 1285–1296.

Seltzer S (1984). The dental pulp: biologic consideration in dental procedures, 3 rd edn. Philadelphia: Lippincott, pp. 303-323.

Sessle BJ (1987). The neurobiology in facial and dental pain: present knowledge, future directions. J Dent Res 66(5): 962-981.

Sessle BJ (2000). Acute and chronic craniofacial pain: brainstem mechanisms of nociceptive transmission and neuroplasticity, and their clinical correlates. Crit Rev Oral Biol Med 11: 57-91.

Seymour R, Simpson J, Chariton J, Phillips M (1985). An evaluation of length and end-phrase of visual analogue scales in dental pain. Pain 21: 177-185.

Shoji N (1996). Bilateral reflex-vasodilatation in the palatal mucosa evoked by unilateral tooth-pulp stimulation. J Dent Res 75: 1637-1643.

Sorsa T, Uitto VJ, Suomalainen K, Vauhkonen M, Lindy S (1988). Comparison of interstitial collagenases from human gingiva, sulcular fluid and polymorphonuclear leukocytes. J Periodontal Res 23: 386–393.

Sorsa T, Ingman T, Suomalainen K, Haapasalo M, Konttinen YT, Lindy O, Saari H, Uitto VJ (1992). Identification of proteases from periodontopathogenic bacteria as activators of latent human neutrophil and fibroblast-type interstitial collagenases. Infect Immun 60: 4491-4495.

Sorsa T, Salo T, Koivunen E, Tyynelä J Konttinen YT, Bergman U, Tuuttila A, Niemi E, Teronen O, Heikkilä P, Tschesche H, Leinonen J, Osman S, Stenman UH (1997). Activation of type IV procollagenases by human tumor-associated trypsin-2. J Biol Chem 272: 21067-21074.
Sorsa T, Mäntylä P, Rönkä H. Kallio P, Kallis G-B, Lundqvist C, Kinane DF, Salo T (1999). Scientific basis of a matrix metalloproteinase-8 specific chair-test for monitoring periodontal and peri-implant health and disease. Ann N Y Acad Sci 878: 130-140.

Sorsa T, Tjäderhane L, Salo T (2004). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in oral diseases. Oral Dis 10: 311–318.

Sorsa T, Tjäderhane L, Konttinen Y, Lauhio A, Salo T, Lee H-S, Golub LM, Brown DL, Mäntylä P (2006). Matrix metalloproteinases: Contribution to pathogenesis, diagnosis and treatment of periodontal inflammation. Ann Med 38: 306-321.

Springman T, Angleton EL, Birkedal-Hansen H, Van Wart HE (1990). Multiple models of activation of latent human fibroblast collagenase: evidence fot the role of a Cys73 active-site zinc complex in latency and a "cysteine switch" mechanism for activation. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 87: 364.

Steranka LR, Manning DC, De Haas CJ, Ferkany JW, Borosky SA, Connor JR, Vavrek RJ, Stewart JM, Snyder SH (1988). Bradykinin as pain mediator: receptrors are located to sensory neurones and antagonists have analgesic action. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 85: 3245-3249.

Sternlicht MD, Werb Z (2001). How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behaviour. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 17: 463-516.

Stjernschantz J, Gregerson D, Bausher L, Sears M (1982). Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay of substance P: a study in the eye. J Neurochem 38: 1323-1328.

Suomalainen K, Sorsa T, Golub LM, Ramamurthy N, Lee HM, Uitto VJ, Saari H, Konttinen YT (1992). Specificity of the anti-collagenase action of tetracyclines: relevance to their anti-inflammatory potential. Antimicrobiol Agents Chemoter 36: 227-229.

Suvinen TI, Reade PC, Kemppainen P, Könönen M, Dworkin SF (2005). Review of aetiological concepts of temporomandibular pain disorders: towards a biopsychosocial model for integration of physical disorder factor with psychological and psychosocial illness impact factors. Eur J Pain 9: 613-633.

Taichman N, Lindhe J (1989). Pathogenesis of plaque-associated periodontal disease. In Linhe J (ed): Textbook of clinical periodontology, Copenhagen: Munksgaard.2 nd edition, Chapter 5, pp. 153-192.

Takeyama M, Mori K, Takayama F, Kondo K, Kitagawa K, Fujii N (1990). Enzyme immunoassay of a Substance P-like immunoreactive substance in human plasma and saliva. Chem Pharmac Bull 38: 3494-3496.

Teronen O, Konttinen YT, Lindqvist C, Salo T, Ingman T, Lauhio A, Ding Y, Santavirta S, Sorsa T (1997). Human neutrophil collagenase MMP-8 in peri-implant sulcus fluid and its inhibition by clodronate. J Dent Res 76: 1529-1537.

Teronen O, Konttinen YT, Salo T, Lindqvist C, Heikkilä P, Laitinen M, Sorsa T (1999). Biphosphonates inhibit matrix metalloproteinase-a new possible mechanism of action. Duodecim 115: 13-15.

Tervahartiala T, Pirilä E, Ceponis A, Maisi P, Salo T, Tuter G, Kallio P, Törnwall J, Srinivas R, Konttinen YT, Sorsa T (2000). The in vivo expression of the collagenolytic matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2, -8, -13 and -14) and matrilysin (MMP-7) in adult and localized juvenile periodontitis. J Dent Res 79: 1969-1977.

Tervahartiala T, Koski H, Xu JW, Häyrinen-Immonen R, Hietanen J, Sorsa T, Konttinen YT (2001). Tumor necrosis factor-alpha and its receptors, p55 and p75, in gingiva of adult periodontitis. J Dent Res 80: 1535–1539; erratum in J Dent Res 80:1684.

Tilg H, Dinarello CA, Mier JW (1997). IL-6 and APPs: Anti-inflammatory and immunosuppressive mediators. Immunol Today 18: 428-432.

Toda K, Iriki A, Tanaka H (1980). Electroacupuncture supresses the cortical evoked responses in somatosensory I and II areas after tooth pulp stimulation in rat. Jap J Physiol 30: 487-490.

Tracey KJ (2002). The inflammatory reflex. Nature 420: 853-859.

Trowbridge HO, Kim S (1998). Pulp development, structure and function. In: Cohen S, Burns RC (eds). Pathways of the pulp, 7th edn. St Louis: Mosby, pp. 386-424.

Uitto VJ, Overall C, McCulloch C (2003). Proteolytic host cell enzymes in gingival crevice fluid. Periodontol 2000 31: 77–104.

Van Buren J, Kleinknecht RA (1979). An evaluation of the McGill pain questionnaire for use in dental pain assessment. Pain 6: 23-33.

Virtanen AS (1985). Electrical stimulation of pulp nerves: Comparison of monopolar and bipolar electrode coupling. Pain 23: 279-288.

Virtanen AS (1991). Studies on the electrophysiological properties of the tooth pulp nerve fibres and experimental dental pain. Thesis. Lahtisen kirjapaino Ky, Helsinki.

Visse R, Nagase H (2003). Matrix metalloproteinases and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases. Circ Res 92: 827-839.

Wall PD, Melzack R (1984). Textbook of pain. Longman group UK limited, pp. 2-3.

Wall PD, Melzack R (2006). Textbook of pain. Longman group UK limited, pp. 26.

Wallin BG. Neural control of human skin blood flow (1990). J Auton Nerv Syst 30: 185-190.

Wahlgren J, Maisi P, Sorsa T, Sutinen M, Tervahartiala T, Pirilä E, Teronen O, Hietanen J, Tjäderhane L, Salo T (2001). Expression and induction of collagenases (MMP-8 and -13) in plasma cells associated with bone-destructive lesions. J Pathol 194: 217-224.

Wahlgren J, Salo T, Teronen O, Luoto H, Sorsa T, Tjäderhane L (2002). Matrix metalloproteinase-8 (MMP-8) in pulpal and periapical inflammation and periapical root-canal exudates. Int Endod J 35: 897–904.

Walton RE, Langeland K (1978). Migration of materials in the dental pulp of monkeys. J Endod 4: 273-277.

Wårdell K, Naver HK, Nilsson GE, Wallin BG (1993). The cutaneous vascular axon reflex in humans characterized by laser Doppler perfusion imaging. J Physiol 460: 185–199.

Watkins LR, Maier SF (2002). Beyond neurons: evidence that immune and glial cells contribute to pathological pain states. Physiol Rev 82: 981-1011.

Weiss SJ (1989). Tissue destruction by neutrophils. N Engl J Med 320: 365-376.

Wilson S, Ngan P, Kess B (1989). Time cource of the discomfort in young patients undergoing orthodontic treatment. Pediatr Dent 11: 107-110.

Wolfe F, Russell IJ, Vipraio GA, Ross K, Anderson J (1997). Serotonin levels, pain thresholds, and fibromyalgia symptoms in general population. J Rheumatol 24: 555-559.

Yamada M, Ogata M, Kawai M, Mashima Y, Nishida T (2002) Substance P and its metabolites in normal human tears. Invest Opthalmol Vis Sci 43: 2622-2625.

Yanaihara C, Sato H, Hirohashi M, Sakagami M, Yamamoto K (1976). Substance P radioimmunoassay using Nalpha-tyrosyl-substance P and demonstration of the presence of substance P-like immunoreactivities in human blood and porcine tissue extracts. Endocrinol Jpn 23: 457-463.